

National Library of Canada

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Canadian Theses Service

Service des thèses canadiennes

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

NOTICE

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30, and subsequent amendments.

AVIS

La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30, et ses amendements subséquents.



COMPUTER APPLICATIONS IN SCHOOL PSYCHOLOGY: CURRENT PRACTICE, ETHICAL-LEGAL FROBLEMS AND IMPLICATIONS FOR TRAINING

by

JULIA L'HEUREUX

Department of Applied Psychology

A Thesis submitted in conformity with the requirements for the Degree of Master of Arts in the University of Toronto

c Julia L'Heureux 1991



Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Canadian Theses Service

Service des thèses canadiennes

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

> The author has granted an irrevocable nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

> The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse à la disposition des personnes intéressées.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-315-65616-6



nieszs, accumpanyting i micham copy TO cardon removement a with remove 3 3 בד וויזסד בחוד המשורה חודה אווואי

Thesis

วี

THE UNIVERSITY OF TORONTO LIBRARY MANUSCRIPT THESIS AUTHORITY TO DISTRIBUTE

NOTE: The AUTHOR will sign in one of the two places indicated. It is the intention of the University that there be NO RESTRICTION on the distribution of the publication of theses save in exceptional cases.

cases.		
·	form by the National Library is autho	
Author's signature	Shurlux Dan	te April 7, 19
\mathcal{J}	,	ý
, and the second	- OR -	
Publication by the National Librational Comman maximum delay is two	rary is to be postponed untilyears).	19
Author's signature	Dat	te
ROWERS undertake to give properuthor if it is proposed to make exte	er credit for any use made of the the ensive quotations, or to reproduce the	sis, and to obtain the c he thesis in whole or in
ROWERS undertake to give properuthor if it is proposed to make extended and signature of borrower	er credit for any use made of the the ensive quotations, or to reproduce the Address	sis, and to obtain the o he thesis in whole or in Date
uthor if it is proposed to make exte	ensive quotations, or to reproduce the	he thesis in whole or in
uthor if it is proposed to make exte	ensive quotations, or to reproduce the	he thesis in whole or in
uthor if it is proposed to make exte	ensive quotations, or to reproduce the	he thesis in whole or in
author if it is proposed to make exte	ensive quotations, or to reproduce the	he thesis in whole or in
author if it is proposed to make exte	ensive quotations, or to reproduce the	he thesis in whole or in
author if it is proposed to make exte	ensive quotations, or to reproduce the	he thesis in whole or in
author if it is proposed to make exte	ensive quotations, or to reproduce the	he thesis in whole or in
author if it is proposed to make exte	ensive quotations, or to reproduce the	he thesis in whole or in

September 1989 - Masters Theses

ABSTRACT

A survey of 224 school psychologists from the Canadian Association of School Psychologists (CASP) was conducted to evaluate the current use of computer applications, level of computer training, and the nature and extent of ethical-legal problems associated with computer use in school psychology. Usefulness of existing ethical and professional standards and guidelines was assessed. One hundred and forty-six questionnaires were included in the analysis.

Responses indicated high current or anticipated use of computers for assessment, administrative and professional purposes. Some training in computers was reported by two-thirds of respondents but the majority (88%) desired further education, particularly in topics related specifically to computer applications. Ethical-legal problems associated with computer applications were reported to have occurred in the service area by 39% of respondents and 77% felt there was a strong likelihood of their occurrence in the future. Professional concerns related to these problems were high. Although almost two-thirds of the sample had consulted one or more professional documents for quidance regarding computer use, only a very small percentage (15%) had consulted the American Psychological Association quidelines for computer-based tests and interpretations (COPS & CPTA, 1986). This survey points to the need for education regarding professional guidelines and improved and continuing computer training for graduate students and practicing professionals.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am indebted to a number of people for their encouragement and support throughout this project. First I wish to express my gratitude to my thesis supervisor, Dr. Kent Henderson, and reader, Dr. Robert MacIntyre for their quidance, helpful advice and generosity with their time. In addition, I extend my thanks to the members of the Canadian Association of School Psychologists whose overwhelming response made this survey a reality.

I am deeply grateful to my family for their continued moral support, encouragement and patience throughout my academic endeavors; to my colleagues who rejoiced in my small victories and whose occasional goading helped see this work to its completion; and special thanks to Karen Pegley for helping, cheering, encouraging and tolerating me throughout the duration of this project.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Chapter One: Introduction	1
1.1 Computer Uses in School Psychology	3
1.1.1 Administrative Uses	3
1.1.2 Professional Uses	4
1.1.3 Assessment Uses	5
Test Administration Programs	6
Scoring Programs	8
Interpretive Programs	9
Guidance and Counseling Programs	12
1.2 Guidelines	14
1.3 Ethical and Legal Issues Concerning Computer Applications in School Psychology	17
1.3.1 Record Keeping Issues	17
1.3.2 Computer Test Administration Issues	20
1.3.3 Issues in Program Quality	25
1.3.4 Interpretive Program Issues	28
1.3.5 User Issues	31
1.4 Training	35
1.5 Purpose of the Current Study	38
Chapter Two: Method	39
2.1 Materials	39
2.2 Subjects and Procedure	41
2 3 Data Analyses	. 42

Page
Chapter Three: Results
3.1 Demographic Characteristics of the Sample 44
3.2 Use of Computers
3.3 Training 46
3.4. Ethical-Legal Problems
3.5 Use and Helpfulness of Existing Guidelines 50
3.6 Summary of Results 51
Chapter Four: Discussion
4.1 Limitations of the Survey 53
4.2 Extent of Computer Usage 54
4.3 Training 55
4.4 Occurrence of Ethical-Legal Problems 56
4.5 Access To and Use of Guidelines 58
4.6 Implications 60
References 63
Appendix A Survey of Computer Use, Training and Ethical Concerns Among School Psychologists 72
Appendix B Item and Wording Changes to Jacob and Brantley (1987) Questionnaire
Appendix C Letters to Participants
Appendix D Tables 80

LIST OF TABLES

	Page
Table 1	Distribution and Response Rate of Sample 80
Table 2	Characteristics of Respondents 81
Table 3	Frequency of Computer Use and Ownership and Training Source and Time of Training in Percentages
Table 4	Current and Anticipated Use and Desire for Training in Computer Applications in Percentages
Table 5	Percentage of Respondents Having and Desirin, Training in Computer Skills
Table 6	Percentage of Respondents Reporting Past and Potential Ethical-Legal Programs and Concern 85
Table 7	Accessibility and Consultation of Professional Documents in Percentages

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Rapid advances in computer technology in the past two decades have profoundly affected the field of school psychology. From administrative uses in record keeping, database management and word processing, research assistance through statistical software and information databanks, to psychological assessment, computers have been integrated into many facets of the profession. Indeed, the proliferation of inexpensive, user friendly yet powerful microcomputers in schools, homes and businesses attests to computers' remarkable popularity. With the minimal computer expertise now required to operate many computer programs, their exceptional potential is available to a wide population of users.

Increased professional interest in computer applications in psychology is readily evident in the professional literature: New journals such as Computers in Human Behavior, Computers in Human Services, and Computers in Psychiatry/Psychology have evolved in the past six years. In addition, a number of established psychological and educational journals regularly review new software and have devoted entire issues to applications-related topics. A recent survey of members of the Ontario Psychological Association (OPA) including clinicians, researchers, administrators, academics and students found 82% used computers in their professional work (Pollock & Maenpaa, 1990). In school settings, reports of current use of computers indicate that a

similar high proportion (72%) of one sample of American school psychologists were using computers in some capacity in their work (Jacob & Brantley, 1987). Indeed, Brown (1984) predicted that school psychologists in the 1990s would be using computerized assessment as the principle means for collecting standardized data on their clients.

There is little doubt that computers can positively impact the scope and efficiency of school psychological services. The issue is not whether computers should be used in the field, but rather which applications and under which conditions will they best impact the provision of services. It is important to explore the full potential of the new technology yet much confusion and uncertainty over acceptable, ethical practice and widespread concern over its potential misuse abounds.

What are the advantages and limitations of computer applications in school psychology? Are school psychologists using computer applications and if so, which ones? What ethical and legal issues arise in their use? Are professional concerns well founded? The types, advantages and limitations of computer applications in school psychology will be overviewed. Following this, an analysis of related ethical-legal issues will be explored.

1.1 Computer Uses in School Psychology

1.1.1 Administrative Uses

The remarkable storage capacity, data processing and retrieval features of mainframe and microcomputers have made their use for record keeping purposes particularly appealing for school psychologists. Indeed, automated data management is a positively viewed and widely used application by school psychologists (Kerber, 1983; McCullough & Wenck, 1984). Referral information, test scores, reports, client contacts, scheduling, billing, budgeting and accounting data can be stored and retained in a format which can easily, rapidly and efficiently be searched and reorganized. Office and service accountability reports can easily be generated for stored data and computerization of client files provides instant access for updates, deletions or content reorganization (McCullough & Wenck, 1984).

A variety of word processing packages are available for mainframe and microcomputers. They greatly increase efficiency of correspondence, professional publication preparation and report writing — perhaps one of the most time consuming responsibilities of the school psychologist. Baker (1983 as cited in McCullough & Wenck, 1984) estimates that word processing packages decrease report preparation time by as much as 75%. Programs provide the writer the freedom to edit reports at will and can function as a storage centre for pre-prepared report blocks (eg. test descriptions, lists of frequently used recommendations). Some

programs provide report templates which allow psychologists to insert relevant assessment information into a standard report format. Report generator programs produce reports based entirely on entered raw test scores. Although appealing as professional time savers, the program output is limited in perspective, in their reliance primarily on test data, with little or no integration of behavioral observations or other clinical information (McCullough & Wenck, 1984). Of concern is their potential for misuse by those unqualified to evaluate their contents objectively and critically.

1.1.2 Professional Uses

Computers have long played a role in educational and psychological research. Statistical packages, once the domain of the mainframe computer, are now widely available for many microcomputer systems. Databases and statistical packages together provide the opportunity to generate systematically gathered extensive normative data bases not easily possible with traditional methods (Jackson, 1985; Merrell, 1985). In addition, the computer's complex graphics and response recording capabilities provide the practitioner a wealth of research possibilities.

Telecommunication networks provide the school psychologist instant access to current professional information and happenings, and facilitate communication among users. Services include electronic mail, systems bulletin boards, and data collection and

information management systems for storing and analyzing information. Through networks, it is now possible to rapidly access and efficiently search vast background and research information held in large database organizations such as ERIC (Educational Resources Information Centre) and PSYCHLIT (a database of psychological abstracts). They are invaluable professional tools (McCullough & Wenck, 1984) which allow the practitioner to remain current with the ever expanding professional literature.

1.1.3 Assessment Uses

School psychologists spend a large proportion of their professional time in assessment. Indeed, Smith (1984), in a large scale national survey of practicing school psychologists in the United States, found that the average practitioner spends 54% of his or her own time in assessment-related activities. Currently available assessment software for test administration, scoring, interpretation and counseling may positively impact on professional service provision through reduction in assessment time and error, and improved assessment efficiency, thus freeing psychologists to further expand their professional roles. The OPA survey found 55% of clinicians, administrators, researchers and students currently used computers for direct clinical applications (Pollock & Maenpaa, 1990). Among school psychologists in particular, Jacob & Brantley (1987)'s national survey on computer usage found 60% of respondents used or planned to use computers

for test scoring, interpretation and reports.

Psychological testing programs vary widely in the type of assessment instrument automated, the modes of administration and processing, and their output format and content. Tests may be administered conventionally or via computer and processed either centrally, locally or via teleprocessing, after test responses or raw scores have been coded on answer sheets or directly entered into the computer via the clinician.

Test Administration Programs. Test administration programs have been developed for a variety of paper and pencil personality, vocational and interest inventories and clinical interviews with true/false or multiple choice questions. Most administration programs to date have been developed for adult clientele. Fewer standardized tests used with school aged children are available for test administration although criterion referenced and teacher prepared tests for academic subjects are widely marketed (McCullough & Wenck, 1984).

With automated administration, it is the client who interacts directly with the computer, thus freeing up professional time (Brown, 1984; Erdman, Klein, & Greist, 1985) and reducing the influence of examiner bias (Merrell, 1985; Vale & Keller, 1987). Krug (1987a) estimates that test administration time is reduced by 15% to 50% when executed by computer. In addition, measurement error is reduced for tests requiring complex presentation of stimuli and/or tightly controlled time limits (Krug, 1987a) and

administration conditions are better standardized (Brown, 1984;
Masden, 1986; McCullough & Wenck, 1984). Automated test
administration also permits those clients with visual, auditory or
physical disabilities to take tests with minimal assistance (Burke
& Normand, 1987; Jackson, 1985; Sampson & Pyle, 1983). Of concern
with this approach, however, is the limited or absence of
observations of testing behaviour — important information sources
for evaluating the validity of test administration and for
generating hypotheses to explain test results (Butcher, Keller &
Bacon, 1985). Furthermore, the unknown effects of computer-related
factors on test results and the equivalency of computer and
conventional test administrations are of critical importance in
valid test administration, yet are often overlooked by test
program developers.

Expanding technological capabilities provide new possibilities for the development of innovative assessment measures to be administered by computer. Abilities which are difficult to measure through paper and pencil techniques such as response latencies, short term memory, and visual tracking can be measured using automated systems (Roid & Gorsuch, 1984). With graphics capabilities and voice synthesizers, the possibilities for psychological test development are endless (Brown, 1984; Hofer & Green, 1985; Space, 1981). One recent computerized test development is adaptive testing which involves logical branching of test items. Questions are based on the individual's previous responses, resulting in only the most relevant questions

being asked. Although still in its infancy in development, adaptive testing has potential to reduce assessment time and improve measurement accuracy by focusing on key issues or abilities (Burke & Normand, 1987; Eyde, 1987; Hofer & Green, 1985; Meier & Geiger, 1986; Merrell, 1985; Skinner & Pakula, 1986; Weiss, 1985).

Scoring Programs. Scoring programs are the most widely accepted computer application in school psychology (Troutman, 1985) and are available for a wide variety of tests, including intelligence, personality, achievement, projective tests and adaptive behavior scales. Test scoring programs may depend on the examiner (or assistant) to type the raw data into the computer or on the clients themselves in the case of automated test administration. Program output may include lists of scores and descriptive statements of test scores. By rapidly computing raw scores, derived scores and factor and scale scores, these programs significantly decrease clerical scoring time and the time lag between testing and results (Butcher, 1987b; Jackson, 1985; Merrell, 1985; Sampson & Pyle, 1983). Viewed as more accurate, and more cost and time effective (Burke & Normand, 1987; Byers, 1964; Fowler & Butcher, 1987; McCullough & Wenck, 1984; Merrell, 1985; Roid & Gorsuch, 1984; Sampson & Pyle, 1983; Walker & Myrick, 1985), the clerical time savings are especially apparent for long paper and pencil questionraires and self-report inventories. By eliminating the need for hand calculations, potential scoring

error is also decreased (Jackson, 1985; Krug, 1987a; Sampesn & Pyle, 1983; Space, 1981; Walker & Myrick, 1985). Tests with a heavy reliance on the qualitative aspects of answers, however, may be less amenable to computerized scoring (McCullough & Wenck, 1984; Merrell, 1985). In addition, any input typing errors will undoubtedly decrease the accuracy of the program output.

Description starement programs provide profiles, lists of scores and generate descriptions of the client's performance based on the scale and factor scores (Roid & Gorsuch, 1984). The basis of interpretations in these reports is overly simplistic, however, as interpretations are often matched to single scaled scores rather than to patterns of scaled scores (Butcher et al, 1985; Moreland, 1987a). They are, therefore, more subject to internal inconsistencies and/or redundancies and may completely omit any interaction effects (Vale & Keller, 1987).

Interpretive Programs. The most controversial aspect of computer use in psychological assessment is that of interpretive programs. Proceeding one step further than descriptive programs, they provide detailed interpretations of test results based on a set of pre-specified automated rules which analyze, interpret and assign particular explanations to a response or patterns of responses (Harris, 1987). These rules form an algorithm, or decision tree, which guides the computer in the analysis (Harris, 1987). The underlying basis for these rules rests either on clinical judgment or empirically established research patterns for

various score configurations.

The majority of interpretive programs are clinically-based, and are founded on published research, clinical hypotheses and experience. Called clinician-modelled or "expert system" programs, they are designed to simulate the interpretive processes of a renowned expert clinician. Programs are developed by having the clinician think aloud to form a logical decision tree (Vale & Keller, 1987) and are limited by the difficulty in making explicit the expert's judgmental rules (Butcher et al, 1985). Some expert systems are based on a mathematical model, usually linear, of the expert's prediction process derived from the statistical analysis of the expert's judgments (Roid & Gorsuch, 1984). That the expert can make accurate predictions and can be simulated by a linear model rather than a configural approach is the somewhat shaky assumption upon which the validity of these clinician-based approaches rest (Butcher et al, 1985; Vale & Keller, 1987). These approaches are improved by using the judgment consensus of several experts in developing the program thereby decreasing the individual unreliability and bias of one individual expert (Vale & Keller, 1987). Few programs, however, have been developed using this approach.

Moreland (1987a) cautions test users in the use of clinical program interpretations in situations of unusual response sets, rare score combinations and in the detection of low probability events (eg. suicide). In such instances, there is increased likelihood that the interpretations are based more on the expert's

personal experience and clinical lore and may be inaccurate.

Interpretations for extreme scores, especially in programs using coarse classification groupings, and for scores near classification cutoff points may be more erroneous as well.

Expert systems can furnish the practitioner with valuable outside opinions and provide a powerful learning experience for development and refinement of clinical skill (Butcher, 1987b; Sampson, 1986). Interpretations generated are viewed as more objective, for they are less subject to examiner bias (Butcher, 1987b). The program base of interpretive rules also can be easily updated to reflect recent research and local norms (Space, 1981). The level of expertise in some interpretive programs is of question (Eyde & Kowal, 1985; Krug, 1987b), however, and software quality control is indeed a serious issue. The validity of clinically based interpretive reports is a key concern (Lanyon, 1984; Matarazzo, 1983, 1985, 1986). There is a general consensus in the field that validation of computer-generated reports is indeed a difficult but imperative task (Moreland (1985b, 1987b).

Clinical-actuarially-based programs produce narratives which are determined by

"the empirical demonstration of statistical regularities that may exist between specified psychological test data and equally clearly specified socially, clinically or theoretically significant non-test characteristics of the persons tested" (Sines, 1966, p. 133 as cited in Fowler, 1985).

Research on statistical prediction has shown that given the same information, statistical prediction is more accurate than clinical prediction (Harris, 1987; Hofer, 1985). Actuarially based programs

have the advantage of incorporating a wide pool of empirical knowledge which leads to more representative clinical decisions (Troutman, 1985). Most interpretive systems, however, are not totally actuarially based, and most rely to a some degree on expert interpretations (Butcher et al, 1985; Harris, 1987). Validity is not an issue with actuarial programs; rather it is the generalizability of the system to populations other than that upon which the system was based which is its major limitation.

Interpretive programs as a whole have the potential to provide useful quantitative assistance to the practitioner. The reliability of interpretations is guaranteed, for barring system failures, the system will consistently generate the same report if identical test results are entered into the program each time (Burke & Normand, 1987; Kramer, 1988; Space, 1981; Vale & Keller, 1987). Allowing rapid access to extensive information, such programs function as archival memory banks of expert clinical experience and empirical knowledge.

Guidance and Counseling Programs. School psychologists involved in career counseling may find computer resources particularly useful. Available for many age groups, career information and guidance systems are found in public schools, colleges, libraries, employment offices, and private agencies to facilitate career decisions through assessment of values, skills and interests.

A more controversial use of computers in the mental health

field is in the provision of therapy. Troutman (1985), in a national survey of school psychologists in the United States, found that computerized counselling was the least desirable of computer applications. Computers were viewed as "dehumanizing" and impersonal, increasing the distance between client and counselor (Troutman, 1985). Many issues must be resolved before computerized counseling becomes a recognized means of intervention (Reynolds, McNamara, Marion, & Tobin, 1985). It is unclear which theoretical perspectives and methods are best suited to automation (Reynolds et al, 1985). Early attempts to model free form psychotherapy in the 1960s failed, although more recent automated cognitive behavioral approaches have shown some success (for review see Erdman et al, 1985). Further evaluative research on the utility of automated therapies is clearly warranted.

Part of the counseling assessment process involves time consuming client interviews. Lengthy structured histories, special topics interviews, behavior assessment and psychiatric interviews have been automated and their results found to be more reliable, more comprehensive and cost effective (Space, 1981). Erdman et al (1981) cite 19 studies involving computer interviews with psychiatric patients and report the interviews were reliable, accurate and highly acceptable to patients. They conclude that the concern that computers are too impersonal is refuted (Erdman et al, 1981).

Faced with this confusing array of software for a wide range of professional purposes, where does the school psychologist turn for advice on evaluating and using the available programs? Are there any guidelines?

1.2 Guidelines

Computerized psychological applications are not new phenomena, for scoring and interpretive programs have been in use since the 1950s and 1960s (Fowler & Butcher, 1987; Moreland, 1987b). Yet prior to 1986, quidelines specific to computerized testing were scattered among general professional standards, with the exception of a short policy statement addressing service providers' responsibilities regarding automated scoring and interpretation practices (Newman, 1966). Ethical principles of psychologists (American Psychological Association [APA], 1977, 1981) refers briefly to service provider's responsibilities to ensure the validity of automated interpretive services (Ethical Principle [EP] 8e). Standards for providers of psychological services (APA, 1977) addressed the use of computer data banks for record keeping purposes (Standard 2.3.5). Guidance regarding test development and publication of computerized assessment instruments are provided in Standards for educational and psychological tests (APA, American Education Research Association [AERA] & National Council on Measurement in Evaluation [NCME], 1985), in Standards 3.16, 5.4, 5.11 and 6.13. "Principles for professional ethics" (National Association of School Psychologists [NASP], 1985)

addressed computer use in the areas of informed consent (Principle [PPE] IV-C.3), copyright violations (PPE IV-C.2), test security (PPE IV-C.1), and professional responsibility for services (PPE IV-C.4-7). Many standards, however, were subsumed under those for conventional assessment and professional practice, which left the interpretation of their implications for computerized applications to the practitioner.

The degree to which professional school psychologists use these documents for guidance regarding automated psychological services was investigated in an American national survey by Jacob and Brantley (1987). Of the 268 psychologists who responded, 37% had consulted one of <u>Principles for professional ethics</u> (NASP, 1985), <u>Standards for educational and psychological tests</u> (APA, AERA & NCME, 1985), and <u>Ethical principles of psychologists</u> (APA, 1977, 1981). Only 10% percent of respondents felt these documents were useful as reminders and most expressed the need for more specific guidance regarding responsible implementation of computer applications in school psychology.

In response to the widespread concerns arising from the increasing use and potential misuse of computerized assessment tools and the confusion and uncertainty over acceptable professional practice, a number of authors and state psychological associations formulated their own guidelines (Colorado Psychological Association, 1982; Hofer & Bersoff, 1983; Hofer & Green, 1985; Jacob & Brantley, 1987; Merrell, 1985; Ohio Psychological Association, 1983; Roid & Gorsuch, 1984; Sampson,

1986; Sampson & Pyle, 1983; Walker & Myrick, 1985; Zachary & Pope. 1984). In 1986, the American Psychological Association published professional quidelines solely targeting computerized tests and interpretations. Developed by the Committee on Professional Standards (COPS) and the Committee on Psychological Tests and Assessment (CPTA) of the American Psychological Association, the American Psychological Association quidelines for computer-based tests and interpretations (COPS & CPTA, 1986), referred to here on in as CBTI Guidelines, were intended to incorporate and clarify the implications of previously established standards as they apply to computerized testing and interpretations. Their function is advisory rather than technical in nature, delineating the responsibilities of both developers, publishers and users and practices essential to protect clients' interests. Their publication is indeed timely and vital to the profession. Although not law, standards and quidelines play significant roles in legal actions concerning professional negligence and malpractice (Hofer, 1985). The comprehensiveness and utility of the CBTI Guidelines to professionals has yet to be evaluated.

Recent Canadian ethical principles and standards have been embodied in the <u>Canadian code of ethics for psychologists</u>

(Canadian Psychological Association [CPA], 1988). They are similar to pre-1986 American regulations and standards in that they make no specific reference to computer usage in psychology.

1.3 Ethical and Legal Issues Concerning Computer Applications in School Psychology

computer applications have great potential for school psychological services, yet their effectiveness remains highly dependent on the ways in which they are employed. Indeed, computer usage in the psychological profession as a whole has precipitated serious ethical and legal concerns surrounding record keeping, test administration, program quality, misuse of interpretive programs and the growing population of unqualified users. The American national survey by Jacob and Brantley (1987) mentioned earlier is the only research to date investigating the prevalence of such problems in school psychology. Thirty-two percent of their 268 respondents indicated that at least one ethical-legal problem had occurred in service areas and 74% felt these were likely to occur in the future. What are these issues?

1.3.1 Record Keeping Issues

Automation of records presents both old and new ethical concerns for school psychologists. Record security is of prime concern for both traditional paper and computerized records. Psychologists bear the responsibility for maintaining client confidentiality and must secure client records against unauthorized access and use, regardless of its form [EP 5c (APA, 1981); PPE IV-C.1 (NASP, 1985); "Purpose", (COPS & CPTA, 1986); Standard 1-32, 33 (CPA, 1988)]. Some authors believe that the potential vulnerability of records to unauthorized access is

greatly increased with automation, especially in multiple location systems where greater numbers of individuals can access the system (Sampson & Pyle, 1983). Others argue that the increased complexity in accessing computer files will afford them greater security than paper files (Burke & Normand, 1987; Morgan & Crawford, 1974; Wolkon & Lyon, 1986). Jacob and Brantley (1987) found a small number (3%) of school psychologists surveyed reported unauthorized access to computerized records as having occurred in their workplace, yet 35% anticipated this to be a future problem. It is likely that the computerization of records adds no further risk of unauthorized access, but it is readily apparent that new procedures and controls are necessary to maintain security and confidentiality.

Practitioners undoubtedly must be aware of threats to computerized record security and take appropriate preventative steps to ensure confidentiality of the information and the privacy of the test taker. Averting unauthorized access can be accomplished through physical security (locking) of equipment and data media (Eberlein, 1990; Merrell, 1985; Wolkon & Lyon, 1986), and access guarding, which limits program use to authorized personnel with access codes and passwords (Eberlein, 1990; Jacob & Brantley, 1987; Sampson & Pyle, 1983). In addition, access to sensitive data can be limited to authorized personnel through multiple access points within a record (Reynolds et al, 1985; Sampson, 1983). It is also common practice among testing companies to use identification numbers for clients (Hofer, 1985; Merrell,

1985; Reynolds et al, 1985; Sampson & Pyle, 1983, Zachary & Pope, 1984). Encryption programs are also useful to ensure the security of data storage and the transmittal of information is limited to authorized users (Eberlein, 1990).

These security measures are not foolproof, for passwords and procedures may be stolen, thus, computerized files should be erased when no longer needed for the provision of services (Merrell, 1985; Sampson & Pyle, 1983). There is greater potential, however, to keep records longer than required given the greatly reduced storage space they require (Jacob & Brantley, 1987; Sampson & Pyle, 1983). Such indiscriminate storage increases the risk of potential misuse of obsolete data for current decisions regarding a client (Sampson & Pyle, 1983; Zachary & Pope, 1984), which violates ethical principles regarding storage and disposal of client records and misuse of reports [EP 5e, 8d & 8e, (APA, 1981); Standard 1-32, 33 (CPA, 1988)]. Purging of records no longer of value for service provision is essential to avoid such misuse.

Practitioners must also ensure that records are accurate and complete by ensuring data integrity is not lost in the event of equipment failures (Jacob & Brantley, 1987) or environmental hazards. Such threats as power failures, surges, temperature and humidity fluctuations, static electricity, air contaminants, and magnetic fields can result in data loss, program errors, and serious hardware damage (Cronin, 1986). The practitioner must take steps to avoid such catastrophes by using preventative measures

against environmental threats and by backing up data and records.

Routine equipment maintenance is critical to avoid equipment
failure.

A final issue surrounding computerized records involves the use of record contents for purposes for which no informed consent was obtained. Computer storage and rapid data processing features are particularly appealing (and tempting) for the development of local norms and the facilitation of complex research not easily feasible without such technology (Zachary & Pope, 1984). Without informed consent from the clients whose records are involved, such uses constitute a violation of research ethics [Principle E (APA, 1982)].

1.3.2 Computer Test Administration Issues

Many companies utilize the psychometric and normative data from conventional standardized tests in the automated test versions. Yet, are computerized administrations of psychological tests comparable to those of conventional test versions? Are the same constructs being measured and the same results obtained? Herein lies the primary issue in computerized administration of psychological tests. Without evidence of equivalency of results between the two administration modes, or measures taken to correct nonequivalent results should they result, the norms, cutting scores, reliability and validity data from conventional tests may not be applicable to the computerized version (COPS & CPTA, 1986). Unfortunately, many companies assume equivalency without its

empirical demonstration (Butcher et al, 1985; Duthie, 1984; Farrell, 1984; Hofer & Green, 1985).

According to CBIT Guidelines (COPS & CPTA, 1986), the responsibility for the determination of equivalency lies primarily with the test developer. The ultimate responsibility for the appropriate use of the test, however, lies with the test user. Awareness of the existence of equivalency data, its type, and the equating formula used, if needed, is essential for clinicians to judge the suitability of the computerized version for a particular client (Hofer & Green, 1985). High correlations between the results of the two administration modes is insufficient evidence for the justification of generalizing conventional norms to the computerized version. Nonequivalence may occur as a shift in scores, a metric change in score distribution or a change in rank ordering of test takers. Although transformations applied to scores can correct nonequivalence in the first two cases, the latter warrants restandardization and validation of the computerized version (Hofer & Green, 1985).

Automation of certain item types and contents have been demonstrated to change test results significantly. Research reviews find altered results in computerized administration of traditional tests with speeded items, items requiring matching responses, adjective checklists and explicit "cannot say" options (Hofer, 1985; Jackson, 1985; Moreland, 1985a, 1987b). Reviews of output from interviews addressing sensitive or embarrassing topics concluded clients tended to be more willing to deal honestly with

sensitive material when interacting with a computer than with a human interview or on a paper and pencil questionnaire (Burke & Normand, 1987; Erdman et al, 1985; Hofer & Green, 1985; Moreland, 1985a; Reynolds et al, 1985). Equivalency research, as of yet, is sparse and inconsistent and has not comprehensively identified all item types, nor item content which may not be equivalent when automated (Hofer, 1985; Moreland, 1985a, 1987b).

The practitioner must be alert to, evaluate the effects of, and take measures to avoid a number of factors associated with automation which may alter their clients' performance on a computer-administered test or interview. The most apparent factors are the test takers' familiarity and experience with computers, equipment functioning and deviations from the normative equipment.

The test taker unfamiliar with computers is likely at a disadvantage in comparison to those more experienced with the technology. The inexperienced examinee may become overwhelmed or intimidated by the computer, focus more on the use of the equipment rather than on the questions at hand, experience anxiety stemming from lack of expertise or fear of damaging equipment (Kenneth, 1988), and anxiety already present may escalate (Sampson & Pyle, 1983). Indeed, clients experiencing substantial emotional difficulties may be incapable of interacting with a computer (Sampson, 1986). If users are insecure in their ability to use a system, the resultant anxiety will negatively affect performance (Shneiderman, 1980) and compromise the validity of test results.

Hofer and Green (1985) see computer familiarity as a modern

bias against groups less comfortable with computers particularly when operating procedures are complicated. Although significant differences in performance on computerized tests by different groups such as ethnicity, gender, age and socioeconomic status may result, group membership per se may not be the direct explanation (Hofer & Green, 1985). Rather unfamiliarity with computers is likely the underlying cause of the nonequivalence of scores and its correction may be possible through the provision of adequate training and practice prior to test administration (Hofer, 1985). Burke and Normand (1987)'s review of such research notes that the performance of anxious elderly clients was significantly improved with a one hour training period in comparison with those who did not receive training. The importance of the provision of adequate training and practice prior to computerized test administration cannot be understated.

Client attitudes towards computers and computerized testing can significantly impact assessment results. Reviews of empirical research on client reactions to computerized test administration have found overall positive results, noting a tendency for the young to be more positive and the elderly negative (Burke & Normand, 1987; Erdman et al, 1985; Hofer, 1985; Moreland, 1985a; Romanczyk, 1986). Lawton and Gerschner (1982) reviewed the literature on children's attitudes towards computers and computerized instruction, noting that in general children appear to enjoy working with computers. Unfortunately, computer acceptability in most studies was measured as an afterthought,

using idiosyncratic, psychometrically unsound measures, which makes these conclusions tentative at best.

Problems with the design and functioning of the equipment also can seriously affect test results (Duthie, 1984; Hofer, 1985; Jacob & Brantley, 1987; Skinner & Pakula, 1986; Thomas, 1984). Screens vary in their physical size, type size, characters per line, background illumination, colour etc., as do keyboards in their ease, number and size of exposed keys (Sampson, 1986; Thomas, 1984). Such equipment variability affects the ease of reading and responding on computers which may unduly effect results. Malfunctioning equipment is an obvious problem which impacts the integrity of the data, comfort of the client, and validity of the administration. CBTI Guidelines acknowledge the effect these equipment variations and potential difficulties can have on the test results and specify that any major departures from the normative equipment must be shown to have no appreciable effect on the scores and documented in the manual before the administration may be considered acceptable (COPS & CPTA, 1986). Test users shoulder the responsibility of assuring properly functioning, glare free standardized equipment, and comfortable testing conditions to eliminate these potential confounds. Close monitoring of the testing session is warranted to guard against equipment failures and clarify any questions.

Further research efforts are clearly needed to determine the specific client characteristics of those most (and least) receptive to computerized assessment. Indeed, prior negative

experiences with computers such as incorrect billing, bank machine confusions or personal computer failures, may result in unfavourable attitudes towards computer, or a genuine computer fear — or cyberphobia (Duthie, 1984). Although in general, it appears that most children and adult clients view automated test administration favourably, the clinician must still evaluate the appropriateness of computer test administration on a case-by-case basis in light of the client's particular personality, background experiences and preferences.

1.3.3 <u>Issues in Program Quality</u>

Because psychological testing can play an important role in assessment decisions regarding diagnosis, intervention, placement, and employment of individuals, it must meet acceptable quality standards to protect the clients' best interests. Quality control of assessment programs is indeed a serious issue. Much variability exists in the development and quality of computerized test programs available (Burke & Normand, 1987; Walker & Myrick, 1985; Zachary & Pope, 1984). The output of a program clearly is limited by the quality of the data behind its development. Increasing numbers of programs are developed by novice or unqualified test developers marketing programs of limited perspective, and are often inappropriately normed, rely on the psychometrics of the conventional test form and/or are based on inaccurate, inadequate or outdated research (Butcher, 1987b; Eyde & Kowal, 1987). In addition, many testing programs are based on

conventional tests for which no validity data exists (Fowler, 1985; Moreland, 1985b, 1987a; Skinner & Pakula, 1986), and thus are of no professional value. Farrell (1984) notes that no clear criteria exist for determining when a computer test program is ready to be marketed and points to the desperate need for the establishment of quality and marketing standards (Butcher, 1987c).

Programs for scoring, administration and interpretation must be carefully and repeatedly examined for errors which undermine their accuracy, reliability and validity, both before and after their marketing. Errors are easy to make yet difficult to locate given the complexity of programming. They can occur at the item, scale, aggregation of scales, or algorithm level (Most, 1987). A program containing logic or syntax errors still may run and because of computers's reliability, errors will be replicated faithfully (Farrell, 1984; Most, 1987). This contributes to the error of the test and thus decreases its accuracy, for the errors are no longer random as assumed by psychometric theory (Most, 1987). Independent critical review is therefore essential to evaluate the thoroughness and accuracy of a system (Hofer, 1985) and ensure high quality programs.

A major issue in reviewing software is the conflict of interest between the test reviewers' obligation to review the program and the publishers' proprietary rights to their algorithms (Hofer, 1985; Matarazzo, 1985). Publishers are reluctant to release critical information regarding software development, such as the decision rules and interpretive statements comprising the

program's algorithm, to prevent the illegal marketing of their products by others (Kramer, 1988; Skinner & Pakula, 1986; Zachary & Pope, 1984). This conflict must be resolved to prevent concealment of inadequate test development under the guise of test information protection rights (Meier & Geiger, 1986). The CBTI Guidelines (COPS & CBTA, 19876) compromise in this issue, suggesting that the program manual provide users with adequate and reasonable access to sufficient information. When it is necessary to reveal trade secrets, a written agreement of nondisclosure which carefully delineates the nature of the secret information and procedures used to protect the proprietary interests of the test author, software author and the test publisher, should be signed (COPS & CPTA, 1986). Full disclosure of all decision rules and algorithms, then, is not deemed essential.

Programs can be limited by numerous factors and cooperation will clearly be needed between reviewers, test authors and publishers in the adequate review of a program. In light of the proliferation and variable quality of testing software, quality standards must be developed and scholarly review of testing software mandatory. Until this is standard practice, the professional must remain critically evaluative and alert to quality issues and limit program usage to those which are professionally reviewed as acceptable. Buros' Mental Measurements Yearbook and peer-refereed journals are excellent sources of reviews.

1.3.4 <u>Interpretive Program Issues</u>

Concerns have been raised which specifically pertain to computer-generated reports. The output from interpretive programs is often produced in the form of a narrative psychological report. Coupled with the view that computerized administration and scoring provides a more unbiased assessment, these reports carry with them an "aura of objectivity" (Matarazzo, 1983, 1986) or "illusion of credibility" (Romancyzk, 1986; Skinner & Pakula, 1986), which deters practitioners from carefully evaluating their content. The danger thus presented is that of users unquestioningly accepting the quality and validity of the program and interpretations (Butcher, 1987c; Zachary & Pope, 1984). Fourteen percent of school psychologists responding to Jacob and Brantley's (1987) survey indicated the use of interpretative software without its critical evaluation for accuracy and validity had occurred in their workplace. Interpretive reports, however, are not, and were never intended to be ends in themselves for technological limitations and program restrictions limit their utility.

Automated tests and interpretive programs are still in their infancy in development. At present, the computer generated report is rarely individualized to a specific client. The interpretive program from which reports are composed deal with commonalities of targeted groups and provide summaries of "most likely" or "modal" correlates for an individual (Butcher, 1987b; Eyde & Kowal, 1986; Fowler & Butcher, 1986) and as such are very general. Hofer (1985) notes that although demographic variables aid the computer

in selecting the most appropriate base rates and norms, it is virtually impossible to include every relevant characteristic or special circumstance of a client into a program. Thus, the computer remains "blind" to pertinent individual factors which may significantly impact the validity of interpretations (Hofer, 1985; Matarazzo, 1985). It is also impossible to program every possible score pattern or all possible interpretations of score patterns (McCullough & Wenck, 1984). Programs are only capable of interpreting profiles similar to those included in their algorithms, and thus, interpretations may be inaccurate, incomplete, or misleading (Ryabick, Olson & Kleim, 1984).

Few computer-based interpretation programs provide a selection of conceivable yet distinct interpretations for one test profile by the same author or a variety of authors, yet two identical profiles of two distinct individuals would rarely receive analogous interpretations if analyzed traditionally (Matarazzo, 1986). Although current programs may administer, score and interpret a number of different tests, only a minority to date are designed to integrate the results of a battery of tests. Basing interpretations, conclusions, and recommendations solely on one test alone or even on a number of tests viewed in isolation hardly constitutes a responsible professional assessment, yet is a very real danger. As noted in CBTI Guidelines (COPS & CPTA, 1986), it is the responsibility of the clinician to examine the interpretations in light of other relevant background information about the client, including history, referral information,

emotional factors, behavioral observations, and handicapping conditions. The fact remains that good clinicians surpass the computer in their increased flexibility in relating these important variables to test results.

Technology need not be discarded in favour of traditional procedure, however, for well developed interpretive programs summarize the best statistical interpretations or interpretive experience of experts in the field (Hofer, 1985). The computer stores research information, applies appropriate norms, furnishes "expert" interpretations of and/or empirical findings regarding particular score patterns, displays the frequency with which patterns are shown in the normative sample and provides base rate information, all of which aid the clinician in evaluating and integrating the information with other knowledge of the testee (Butcher, 1987c; Roid, 1985). Interpretive programs serve as a source of information rather than the final interpretation or diagnosis (Matarazzo, 1986; McCullough & Wenck, 1984; Meier & Geiger, 1986; Thomas, 1984; Walker & Myrick, 1985) providing the clinician with a collection of possible hypotheses to consider. Modification of the output from a "report" to a list format may lessen the likelihood of its being unquestioningly accepted and encourage the responsible and ethical integration of the report hypotheses into a report (Hofer, 1985; Ryabik et al, 1984; Walker & Myrick, 1987; Zachary & Pope, 1984).

1.3.5 User Issues

Misuse of psychological tests has always been of professional concern. The automation of assessment tools is felt to increase this risk by removing the "natural deterrent" of complicated scoring and interpretation procedures often found in conventional tools (Reynolds et al, 1985; Sampson, 1986). Indeed, one need only know the mechanics of computer operations to run a program (Schmidt, 1987) yet background professional knowledge is essential to evaluate the program itself, the validity of its administration and interpretations for any one client. Programs are clearly vulnerable to misuse when in uninformed hands.

The CBTI Guidelines define requisite user qualifications as: knowledge of psychological measurement; background in the history of the test/inventories used; experience in the use of the test and the ability to interpret it without computer aid; familiarity with research on the test; and knowledge of the areas of intended applications (COPS & CPTA, 1986). Professional standards and guidelines, however, do not specify the minimal training or level of competence required to be a qualified user. It is left to the discretion of practitioners to use the technology only when it falls within the bounds of their competencies. Thus, the stage is set for violations of ethical professional standards.

The highly visible marketing techniques and the ease of software use, however, make computerized assessment programs especially attractive to individuals lacking the requisite knowledge and expertise to appropriately use them (Eyde & Kowal,

1987; Zachary & Pope, 1984). Zachary and Pope (1984) classify misusers into two categories: the unqualified, "... who lack the appropriate training and background to use and interpret any psychological tests correctly"; and the unsophisticated, "who, while they may have a general background in measurement theory and testing, are unsophisticated or inadequately informed about a particular test...specialized content area" (p. 153).

Given the limitations of computer test software and the fundamental importance of the evaluation of its rationale, psychometric properties and output in light of any one client, the risk of its abuse by unsophisticated and unqualified users is readily apparent. Indeed, 12% of respondents in Jacob and Brantley's (1987) survey indicated that misuse of interpretive reports by unsophisticated users had occurred in their service area. Misusers may use poorly validated tests, use tests for individuals, settings or purposes other than those for which they were intended, may be unable to integrate actuarial and clinical data and may be insensitive to relevant situational variables such as distractions or handicaps. Misdiagnosis, misinterpretation and/or inappropriate recommendations may result (Jacob & Brantley, 1986, 1987, 1989; Meier & Geiger, 1986; Zachary & Pope, 1984). In addition, misusers may purchase and use a restricted selection of computerized tests, rather than matching the clients' needs to tests chosen from a broader collection (Matarazzo, 1985). The casual administration of the software because of its availability and convenience, not its relevance and applicability to clients

needs, is an unwarranted invasion of privacy [PPE IV-B.2 (NASP, 1985)] (Zachary & Pope, 1984). Most importantly, uninformed users may be unaware that the computerized test is but one part of a full psychological assessment (Matarazzo, 1986). The importance of limiting access of these materials to those qualified and competent to use them appropriately is critical to protect the integrity of professional assessment.

Test publishers and distributors attempt to implement security measures to avoid unauthorized access to conventional and computerized psychological test materials through routine screening of buyers. Eyde and Kowal (1987) note that major test software distributors in the United States usually require that users have professional membership in a psychological, psychiatric or camparable association bound by a code of ethics addressing delivery of services. The variability in backgrounds and training of these members, however, provides no quarantee of adequate training with regards to psychological testing (Zachary & Pope, 1984). The provision to software distributors of more adequate proof of qualifications beyond professional membership such as transcripts and references certifying their qualifications is essential (Eyde & Kowal, 1987), yet the lack of clear user competence standards make the determination of "qualified user" difficult indeed. The Joint Committee on Testing Practices, sponsored by the American Psychological Association, the American Education and Research Association and the National Council on Measurement and Education, is addressing this issue in a task

force to determine minimum requirements of the software test user, regardless of profession (Eyde & Kowal, 1987).

Limiting access of software to qualified users is critical to avoid unauthorize' test use, yet securing the test itself is difficult and is a serious professional concern. The ease by which the disks may be duplicated increases the possibility of a growing population of misusers. Because computer-administered tests require payment for a metered number of test administrations, as does conventional testing, and copy protection is easy to break, the temptation to inexpensively duplicate programs is great (Duthie, 1984). In Jacob and Brantley (1987)'s survey, illegal software copying was the ethical-legal problem cited as occurring in their service area by the largest percentage of respondents (19%). Psychologists are responsible for maintaining test security yet the once a program is copied, control over its authorized use is lost (Duthie, 1984). The potential for its misuse inevitably increases.

Software copying has legal as well as ethical ramifications. Computer software is considered a "literary work" in federal statutes. Although both Canadian and American copyright statutes allow for the duplication of programs for archival or equipment compatibility purposes, further copies constitute an infringement upon the copyright of the test author (Copyright Act, R.S., c. C-30, (Supp) 1988, s.i. 5(1)(i),(m); Copyrights, 17 USCS Sec 117, 1980). Further copyright infringement results from individuals developing their own automated assessment programs using test

questions and normative data without publishers' authorization (Butcher, 1987b; Jacob & Brantley, 1989).

1.4 Training

The implementation of tighter buyer screening procedures by test publishers and tight control over software security are important steps to reduce the risk of software misuse in (and outside of) the profession. An informed and educated professional community is also important in preventing computer misapplication (Pollock & Maenpaa, 1990). Addressing this serious issue at the level of professional training is a vital step in decreasing the population of misusers. School psychologists should be sufficiently trained to use technology critically and effectively and communicate its limitations to their clients. Even if they choose not to use the technology, an awareness of its limitations is important, for the likelihood of encountering the products of these programs in the files of their clients is probably quite high. Troutman (1985) noted 41% of school psychologists responding to her survey owned their own computer, the majority (70.5%) receiving most training through personal study, and 32.5% through college courses. In general, training of professionals and graduate students has not incorporated topics related to computer applications in their curricula (Meier & Geiger, 1986), although many authors point to its importance (Genshaft, 1984; Lowe, 1987; Masden, 1986; Meier & Geiger, 1986; Merrell, 1985; Reschly, 1984; Ryabik et al, 1985; Sampson, 1986; Sampson & Loesch, 1986).

Copeland and Miller (1985) surveyed American professional school psychologists to investigate their perceptions of present and future graduate school training needs for prospective school psychologists. Indeed, courses and experience in computer programming and computer assessment were deemed important future training topics.

The scope of training foci delineated in literature as essential for professional preparation in appropriate and ethical use of computer applications is summarized below:

- i basic computer literacy (Meier & Geiger, 1986; Sampson & Loesch, 1986)
- ii hands on experience with technology (Meier & Geiger, 1986)
- iii rationale for using computer application (Sampson, 1986; Sampson & Loesch, 1985)
 - iv knowledge and experience with specific applications
 (Meier & Geiger, 1986; Sampson & Loesch, 1986;
 Sampson & Pyle, 1983)
 - v direct supervised experiences with computerized instruments (Sampson & Loesch, 1985)
 - vi knowledge of information sources guidelines and reviews (Meier & Geiger, 1986)
- vii general test administration procedures (Masden, 1986; Ryabik, 1985; Sampson & Pyle, 1983)
- viii daily routine maintenance skills and recognition of equipment software problems and corrective steps (Masden, 1986)
 - ix related ethical issues (Sampson & Loesch, 1985; Sampson & Pyle, 1983)
 - x development of a skeptical and evaluative attitude towards the programs (Meier & Geiger, 1986)

Only one computer applications course has been described in the professional literature. Designed and implemented in a graduate clinical/counseling program at Pepperdine University (Lowe, 1987), the course incorporated many of the aforementioned training topics. Basic computer familiarity was considered an integral course component. Specific training and hands on experience was provided not only with specific computer applications in psychology but in such "administrative" uses as word processing, data base management and graphics as well. Examination of the advantages and disadvantages of psychological technology, the related ethical, legal and professional issues and ways to successfully introduce technology into the workplace were also included. Given the gamut of applications available in psychology, Lowe (1987) stressed that much of the training could be incorporated directly into the curricula of existing program courses, reserving the "computer-literacy course" for addressing basic skills training and exploration of related issues.

Professionals in the field may have had little opportunity to achieve computer literacy and proficiency during the course of their employment (Sampson & Loesch, 1986) and as such are ill-prepared to responsibly evaluate and use technology in the provision of services. Indeed, 90% of OPA members responding to Pollock and Maenpaa's (1990) computer use survey desired additional information about computer applications in psychology, including kinds of programs available, performance of existing programs, ethical issues, how to use existing software and program development. Inservice and ongoing continuing education is critical to establish and maintain competency and broaden one's skill base. There is little doubt that training will become increasingly more important as rapid levelopments and innovative forms of testing that rely solely on computer administration and

scoring are devised (Meier & Geiger, 1986).

1.5 Purpose of the Current Study

Jacob and Brantley (1987)'s timely and important survey of school psychologists indicated high current and anticipated usage of computers and associated ethical-legal problems in the provision of school psychological services in the United States in 1985. Existing guidelines were deemed too general to be of use. Since their study was conducted, new CBTI Guidelines (COPS & CPTA, 1986) were published, but as of yet, their utility remains unassessed.

The present 1990 study replicated and expanded this survey using a Canadian sample of school psychologists. To what extent do school psychologists use computer applications? What is the prevalence of ethical-legal problems that have occurred in Canadian work settings? Have new ethical issues arisen? Are the existing guidelines, including the new CBTI Guidelines (CCPS & CPTA, 1986) and the Canadian code of ethics for psychologists (CPA, 1988) available, consulted and found useful? In addition to these questions, in the absence of information regarding computer applications training needs, this study explored current levels of training in related topics and specific areas of need. The potential effects of demographic variables of age, gender, degree, years experience and caseload on current and anticipated computer use, level of training and training needs, and the occurrence of ethical-legal problems were examined.

CHAPTER TWO: METHOD

2.1 Materials

The questionnaire used in this study (Appendix A) was based on the survey developed by Jacob and Brantley (1987). Added questions and word changes made in the current survey are listed in Appendix B.

Demographic information about the respondents was elicited through multiple choice questions. Characteristics included province of residence, gender, age, current occupation(s), level of training in psychology, work setting, years of experience as a school psychologist, and caseload. Multiple choice questions were also used to assess current and anticipated use of computer applications in school psychology. These included: test administration, test scoring and interpretation, report writing, counseling, statistical analysis, data storage, word processing, accountability, program writing, database information services, and electronic communication networks. An "other" category was included for additional applications specified by the respondent. Availability to and degree of usage of computers was also assessed.

The second section of the questionnaire focussed on training in computer applications. Multiple choice questions addressed type of training and when during professional development it was received. Respondents were asked to indicate the specific areas in

which training was received and areas in which they desired training. The list of training areas included was generated from the literature in computer applications.

The final section of the survey evaluated the extent of. perceived likelihood of, and degree of professional concern related to about the occurrence of potential ethical-legal problems related to computer applications in school psychology. Twelve possible ethical-legal problems were delineated. Four questions addressed risks associated with computerized record keeping including obsolete data misuse, loss of records, unauthorized record access and use of computerized records without consent. Five questions examined computerized test-administration and interpretation issues including inadequate consideration of adverse test performance factors, indiscriminant test administration, inadequate software evaluation, unsophisticated users and report misuse. One question dealt with inadequate test development by the user and the final questions addressed copyright violations. Problems identified were either included in Jacob and Brantley (1987)'s survey, had been identified through open-ended questions in their study, or had been mentioned in the computer-applications literature.

Respondents were asked to indicate whether or not each problem had occurred in their service area and whether they felt there was a strong likelihood of it occurring (or recurring) in the future. In addition, the respondents' level of concern regarding the professional risks involved with each problem was

also elicited on a 4 point scale (blank = no opinion, 0 = no concern, 1 = somewhat concerned, 2 = very concerned). Open ended questions were included to allow respondents to describe any addition ethical-legal problems that have arisen regarding computers, and the ways in which any problems have been resolved in their service area.

Finally, respondents were asked to indicate whether they had access to, and had consulted various professional documents for guidance in using computer-applications. The document list included: Guidelines for computer-based tests and interpretations (COPS & CPTA, 1986), Canadian code of ethics for psychologists, (CPA, 1988), Ethical principles of psychologists (APA, 1977; 1981), Standards for educational and psychological tests (APA, AERA & NOME, 1985), Standards for the providers of psychological services (APA, 1985), and "Principles of professional ethics" (NASP, 1985). The utility of these documents for guidance in computer-application use was assessed through an open-ended question.

2.2 Subjects and Procedure

All members of the Canadian Association of School

Psychologists (CASP) listed in the 1990 membership directory as
residing in Canada were selected for participation in the survey.

An introductory letter explaining the survey's purpose, perceived usefulness to the school psychology field, and the voluntary nature of the survey, was sent along with a questionnaire to each

member in the summer of 1990 (Appendix C). A self-addressed stamped envelope was included to promote a higher return rate (Dillman, 1978). Two weeks after the initial mailing, each member was sent a reminder letter (Appendix C). The letter provided the member with a telephone number by which to request (collect) another questionnaire and envelope in the event the first mailing had not arrived or had inadvertently been misplaced.

From the 224 questionnaires mailed, a total of 158 were returned complete, yielding a return rate of 71%. Eleven (5%) were undelivered and returned to the investigators by the post office. For analyses purposes, only questionnaires received from currently practicing consultants and psychologists were used (N=146).

The number and distribution of school psychologists in the sample by province, the number returning the questionnaire and the return rate by province are shown in Table 1 in Appendix D. The overall distribution of returns by province closely approximated that of the Canadian CASP membership.

2.3 Data Analyses

Descriptive statistics were computed using the SPSS-X (SPSS Inc., 1988) FREQUENCY procedures on demographic variables, computer access, frequency of use and ownership, computer training sources and timing, general areas of computer training received and desired, current and anticipated use of specific computer applications and desire for training, past occurrence and anticipated future occurrence of ethical-legal problems, level of

concern regarding professional risks of such problems, and access to and consultation of professional documents. The Kruskal Wallis One Way Analysis of Variance (KWANOVA) (SPSS Inc., 1988) was employed to determine the association between the background characteristics of gender, age, level of psychological training, years of experience and caseload on the number of assessment and other (administrative and professional) computer applications currently used, anticipated to be used and desired for training, the number of areas in which training had been received and was currently wanted, and the number of ethical-legal problems reported to have occurred and anticipated to occur. The age categories of "less than 30 years" and 30-39 years were collapsed together due to the small sample number in the former group. Respondents whose degree was B.A. or "Other" (n=5) were not included in the analyses directly addressing degree effects because of inadequate sample size. A .05 level of significance was used for all comparisons.

CHAPTER THREE: RESULTS

3.1 Demographic Characteristics of the Sample

The present sample consisted of 62 males (43%) and 84 females (57%). Characteristics of the sample are presented in Table 2. The majority of respondents were from Ontario and Western Canada, held Masters degrees, were 30 years of age or older, worked in urban locations and carried a caseload of over 2,001 students. Respondents' years of experience as school consultants or psychologists were evenly distributed from five years or under to over twenty one years.

3.2 Use of Computers

Results of the survey indicated an overwhelming majority (95%) of respondents had access to computers. Those who did not have access to computers reported they would use one if access were available. Computers were owned primarily by schools/employers and by the respondents themselves as shown in Table 3. Most respondents reported their training came through personal study, with inservice and university or college courses reported by one third. Most reported training was received following the completion of their degrees.

Frequency of computer use is presented in Table 3. Seventy nine percent of respondents used a computer at least occasionally in their work, 38% used computers several times weekly, while 23%

use computers daily. Eight respondents spontaneously commented on the questionnaire that the lack of or insufficient number of computers and access time in the work setting were significant difficulties and frustrations.

Results of the survey indicated high current and anticipated use of computer applications by school psychologists, as shown in Table 4. Overall, three-quarters of the respondents reported currently using one or more of the listed applications in their work; 58% used one or more assessment applications while 71% used one or more administrative and professional applications.

Heaviest current use was reported for word processing (61%), data storage/record keeping (47%), psychological report writing (36%) and statistical analysis (34%).

Many respondents not currently using computers in their work anticipated doing so in the future — 43% anticipated using applications related to assessment and administrative/professional purposes. Applications with highest current and anticipated use included word processing (77%), data storage/record keeping (66%), psychological report writing (57%), test scoring and verification (53%), statistical analysis (48%) and database information services (41%). Lowest current and anticipated use was reported for writing programs (18%), computer-assisted counseling and therapy (7%) and other unspecified applications (2%). No respondents currently used counseling/therapy applications.

No significant associations were noted between the background characteristics of gender, age, psychological degree, years of

experience, or caseload and the number of assessment and administrative/professional applications currently used and anticipated to be used.

3.3 Training

More than two thirds of all respondents indicated receiving some training in computer skills, while 88% desired training. A significant difference in the number of areas in which training had been received was evident between groups holding doctorates and masters degrees. Those with Ph.D.'s reported having received training in more general areas than respondents with Masters degrees ($X^2_{(1)} = 6.2640$, p < .01). Other background characteristics of age, gender, years experience and caseload were not significantly related to the number of areas in which training was received.

Overall, most training obtained by respondents included the areas of basic computer literacy skills, hands on experience with technology and common operational procedures of software packages, as shown in Table 5. The majority of respondents reported having no training in the critical evaluation of software, limitations of software, informational sources for software reviews and professional guidelines, and related ethical issues. These were areas in which most respondents (47% or greater) desired training, while one third of the sample wanted hands on experience with the technology and instruction in common operational procedures of software packages. A significant difference was found between

males and females with respect to the number of areas in which training was desired, with females desiring training in more areas than males $(X^2_{(1)} = 4.5977, p<.02)$. Age, degree, years of experience and caseload were not significantly associated with the number of training areas desired.

Over half the respondents (57%) indicated a desire for training in at least one computer application: over one third wanted specific training in one or more assessment applications, while half the respondents desired training in one or more administrative and professional applications. The percentage of respondents desiring training for each application is listed in Table 4. Respondents' level of training in psychology had a significant effect on the number of specific assessment applications in which training was desired, with respondents holding Masters degrees desiring training in more assessment applications than those holding Ph.D.'s (X²(1) = 4.3423, p<.04). No significant association was obtained between respondents' gender, age, years of experience and caseload on the number of assessment or administrative/ professional applications in which training was desired.

3.4 Ethical-Legal Problems

Thirty-nine percent of respondents reported that one or more of the twelve ethical-legal problems associated with computer use in school psychology listed in the questionnaire had occurred in their service area. As indicated in Table 6, the problem cited by

the largest percentage of respondents was misuse of computerized test interpretation programs by unsophisticated users (20%). followed by use of scoring and interpretation programs without their critical evaluation for accuracy, reliability and validity (19%), use of computer-generated reports by schools or unqualified persons (17%), and illegal copying of software (14%). Respondents indicated that remaining problems listed on the survey had also occurred in some service areas but to a much lesser degree (less than 7%). Gender and level of psychological training effects were noted on the number of ethical-legal problems reported. Males reported significantly more occurrences of ethical-le roblems $(X^2_{(1)}=4.6422, p<.03)$ in comparison with females, as did respondents holding Ph.D.'s $(X^2_{(1)} = 3.8520, p<.05)$ in comparison with those holding Masters degrees. No differences were noted with respect to age, years of experience and caseload and the number of ethical-legal problems reported as having occurred.

The majority of respondents (77%) felt there was a strong likelihood of one or more problems occurring in their service areas in the future. For each problem listed, at least one-third of respondents anticipated it would probably occur in the future. The problems anticipated by the most respondents to occur in the future were: unauthorized access to computerized records (47%); misuse of computerized interpretation programs by unsophisticated users (46%); failure to ensure results are unaffected by anxiety, computer familiarity or equipment malfunction (43%); use of scoring and interpretation software without critically evaluating

accuracy, reliability and validity (43%); storage of nonessential or outdated information (42%); use of computerized reports by unqualified persons (41%) and illegal copying of software (41%). No significant differences in the number of anticipated problems were found in groups differing in age, gender, degree, years of experience or caseload.

Respondents were also asked to rate their level of concern regarding the professional risk involved with each problem. For each problem detailed, 60% or more of respondents indicated they were somewhat concerned or very concerned about the risks involved (see Table 6), with the exception of computerization of existing tests without test producer's permission (46%). Those problems which concerned the greatest percentage of respondents were: use of interpretive programs by unsophisticated users (86%), use of scoring and interpretive programs without critical evaluation of accuracy, reliability and validity (83%) and use of computergenerated reports by unqualified users (81%). Comments reiterating concerns regarding overreliance on interpretations without their critical evaluation for accuracy and validity in light of other information known about the client were spontaneously written on the questionnaire by fourteen respondents.

Respondents were asked to note any additional ethical-legal problems arising from computer use in their service area which were not detailed in the survey and any steps taken to resolve such problems. Ethical-legal problems identified included: computer viruses affecting program and data integrity; use of

outdated programs; confidentiality violation risks of report storage on shared hard disks; indiscriminant distribution of a computer generated report; key entry errors; and accessibility of on-screen data by casual observers. Strategies implemented to resolve problems related to computer-use included: the establishment of committees in student services to address ethical and research issues through policy development; inservice training prior to use of specific applications; restriction of computer access to authorized personnel; use of passwords and encryption procedures for authorized access to computer files; deletion of report files once hard paper copies were generated; filing of hard copies to avoid data loss; and use of virus detection programs to screen home-use disks.

3.5 Use and Helpfulness of Existing Guidelines

Respondents were asked to indicate whether the six professional documents listed in the questionnaire were available in their service area and if they had consulted them for quidance in computer use. Almost one—third (29%) of respondents failed to indicate consistently the accessibility of each of the six documents to them. Results from those who answered this question indicated that 62% had consulted one or more of the documents. As shown in Table 7, 53% had consulted The Canadian code of ethics for psychologists (CPA, 1988), 40% had consulted Ethical principles of psychologists (APA, 1977; 1981), and 33% had consulted Standards for educational and psychological tests (APA,

AERA & NOME, 1985). Only 15% had consulted the CBTI Guidelines (COPS & CPTA, 1986), the majority of respondents reporting no access to this document (51%). Overall, at least half of respondents answering this question indicated they had access to these documents, the exception being the CBTI Guidelines (COPS & CPTA, 1986), to which only 24% indicated access.

Ten percent of the sample (n=15) indicated the documents were generally helpful for sensitizing psychologists to potential ethical problems. Only three respondents (2%) specifically indicated any one document to be of use: the CBTI Guidelines (COPS & CPTA, 1986) was the document mentioned.

3.6 Summary of Results

Results of the current survey indicate respondents reported high current and anticipated use of computer applications especially in word processing, data storage/record keeping, psychological report writing, test scoring and verification, statistical analysis, and database information services.

Computer-assisted counseling was the application least used and anticipated to be used in the future. Although many respondents indicated having some degree of training in computers, the majority (88%) desired further training, particularly in topics related to computer applications. Over half of the respondents wanted training in a specific application.

A high occurrence of ethical-legal problems (39%) occurring in the work setting was reported by respondents. All problems

listed had occurred to some extent and a high percentage of respondents (77%) felt there was a strong likelihood of one or more of the problems occurring in the future. High professional concern regarding these problems was expressed. Many respondents had consulted one or more professional documents for guidance in computer use (62%), yet only 15% had consulted the CBTI Guidelines (COPS & CPTA, 1986). Two percent of respondents found these quidelines useful.

CHAPTER FOUR: DISCUSSION

This survey represents the first national study investigating the extent of computer use among Canadian school psychologists, the range and extent of ethical-legal problems associated with computer applications occurring in their service areas and practitioners' current 'evel of and desired training in computers. A comparison of the results obtained in the current survey with those from a similar survey conducted in 1985 by Jacob and Brantley (1987) is warranted to determine whether Canadian school psychologists use computers to the same extent, report similar levels of ethical-legal problem occurrences and share similar professional concerns with their American counterparts.

4.1 <u>Limitations of the Survey</u>

This survey was based on a limited sample that may or may not be typical of Canadian school psychologists in general, as practitioners responding to the survey were restricted to the Canadian Association of School Psychologists. The membership of this recently formed organization was primarily based in Ontario and the Western provinces at the time of the study. In addition, it is likely that respondents not currently using computers are underrepresented in the survey, as they were probably less interested in the topic.

4.2 Extent of Computer Usage

Results of this survey indicated computers were available to virtually all practitioners, either in the home or work setting, and over three quarters of respondents used computers in some capacity at least occasionally in their work, a finding similar to that of Jacob and Brantley (1987)'s overall sample. Their sample, however, was composed of two groups: one of randomly selected members of the National Association of School Psychologists (NASP); and one composed of NASP members who received the newsletter of the Committee on Computers and Technological Applications in School Psychology (CTASP), a high computer interest group. The current sample is most comparable to the former group. Jacob and Brantley (1987) found half of this sample did not use computers at all which suggests that the present Canadian sample reported substantially more computer use in 1990 than did the American sample in 1985.

Overall current and anticipated use of applications was highest for administrative applications of word processing and record keeping and for assessment applications of test scoring and verification and psychological report writing. Computer use, therefore, was not restricted primarily to administrative tasks or research. There is clearly a positive interest and trend toward the incorporation of computer technology into the work setting, particularly for the most time consuming of professional responsibilities — test scoring, report writing and typing, and record-keeping. Less interest or more resistance to computer-

administered counseling was evident and not surprising given that this is the most controversial and least well developed computer application in the field (Reymolds et al, 1985).

4.3 Training

Many respondents indicated receiving some degree of training in computers, primarily in the area of basic computer literacy. The finding that respondents with doctorates reported training in more computer areas than did those with masters degrees is to be expected, given the greater training requirements of the doctorate degree in general. It is important to note that low current training levels reported by an overwhelming majority of respondents were related to computer use in the field of psychology — the critical evaluation of software products, limitations of software, information sources for program reviews and quidelines, and related ethical issues. It is in these areas in which the majority of respondents desired future training, suggesting that practitioners were cognizant of the gaps in their education and would be open to further their training should such opportunities arise. Personal study was the most frequently cited training source yet was apparently inadequate to address all critical topics related to computer use in the profession. Formal training opportunties for practitioners and those in training in these areas are essential and evidently welcomed.

Of interest is the finding that females in the sample desired training in a significantly greater number of general training areas than did males. It is uncertain why this result was obtained given that males and females did not differ in the number of general computer topics in which they had training. Females perhaps judged their training as less adequate than did males, thus seeing themselves as requiring further training. In addition, respondents with Masters degrees desired training in more assessment applications than did those with doctorates. From the present questionnaire, it cannot be determined if those with Masters degrees received less training in specific applications than did those with doctorates which may account for this finding. Future surveys should evaluate training received in specific applications to address this question.

4.4 Occurrence of Ethical-Legal Problems

That the occurrence of the ethical-legal problems delineated in the questionnaire is very real and of serious concern is clearly demonstrated by the survey results. Every ethical-legal problem listed was reported to have occurred to some degree in service areas. Problems related to computerized assessment applications and copyright violations were those most frequently cited: misuse of interpretive programs by unsophisticated users, misuse of computer-generated reports by unqualified users, use of computerized test scoring and interpretation programs without their critical evaluation and illegal copying of software. These four problems were identical to the those most frequently cited as having occurred in Jacob and Brantley (1987)'s sample surveyed in

1985. It is unknown, however, whether the problems currently denoted as having occurred in Canadian school psychological services were also prevalent in 1985 in this country. Thus it cannot be determined if the occurrence of ethical-legal problems has escalated since the previous study, as predicted by Jacob and Brantley (1987). Further surveys are required in both Canada in the United States to determine trends in problem occurrence over time. The findings do suggest, however, that these are widespread problems in the field which warrant specific attention.

Substantial percentages of respondents in the two surveys anticipated a strong likelihood of ethical-legal problems occurring in their service area in the future. At least one third of the both samples anticipated that each problem associated with computerized record keeping, test administration, scoring and interpretation, and copyright violations would probably occur. Concerns related to the professional risks associated with all ethical-legal problems of computer-applications were quite high among Canadian practitioners.

Associations between the number of ethical-legal problems reported as having occurred and the background characteristics of gender and degree were obtained in this survey. Males reported significantly more ethical-legal problem occurrences than did females. Similarly, those with doctorates reported significantly more problem incidents than those with Masters degrees. It may be that those with doctorates were more greatly exposed to general ethical considerations and issues in their professional

preparation as compared to those with Masters degrees, and as such, were more aware of and attuned to their implications with respect to computer applications. Examination of the distribution of degrees among sexes indicated that more males in the sample held doctorates than did females (45% versus 28%), which may account for the gender difference in the number of reported problems.

4.5 Access To and Use of Guidelines

Given the high percentage of respondents anticipating the occurrence of ethical-legal problems in the future, and the high level of professional concern regarding involved risks, it is pertinent to examine the accessibility, consultation and usefulness of existing professional standards and guidelines with regard to computer use. Unfortunately, this section of the questionnaire was poorly answered, with almost one third of the sample failing to indicate availability of every document listed. It is likely that either respondents were unsure of the documents' availability in their work area and thus chose to leave the questions blank for particular documents, or they were reluctant to admit that the documents were not available to them or that they did not consult them. Provision of an explicit "Uncertain of accessibility" option for each guideline on the questionnaire may alleviate this difficulty in future surveys.

Data from those answering the questions indicated that the majority of the sample had consulted one or more documents. The

use of and perceived utility of the quidelines which specifically addressed computer use in psychological tests, the CBTI Guidelines (COPS & CPTA, 1986) however, was reportedly very low. The finding that only 2% of respondents specifically indicated that this document was useful for quidance in computer use is not indicative of its perceived utility because only 15% of respondents had actually consulted it. For over half of the respondents, these quidelines were reported as unavailable for consultation. Interestingly, the documents most frequently consulted, namely The Canadian code of ethics for psychologists (CPA, 1988) and Ethical principles of Psychologists (APA, 1977, 1981) and Standards for educational and psychological tests (APA, AFRA, & NOME, 1985), were those which address computer use vaquely and indirectly, if at all. Not surprisingly, no respondents specifically mentioned them as useful guidance sources for computer use.

Reynclds et al (1985) remarked that the impact of new professional guidelines are rarely felt immediately because of the typical lag between their implementation and application by the scientific community. The availability alone, however, of the CBTI Guidelines (COPS & CPTA, 1986) in the work settings of the Canadian respondents at the time of the study clearly impacted on the extent of their application. Considering that this document has been in circulation since 1986 and has been reprinted as an appendix in at least one book on computer applications (Butcher, 1987a), the reasons for its inaccessibility are unclear. Because

the status of current training in computers among respondents was seriously deficient, especially in such areas as sources of program reviews, guidelines and related ethical issues, it is most likely that many Canadian practitioners were unaware of this document's existence. Further research into the utility of these guidelines once their availability is widespread is essential to critically evaluate their comprehensiveness and utility to the profession and to address their shortcomings.

4.6 <u>Implications</u>

This survey has demonstrated that computer technology has indeed been incorporated into many Canadian service areas. A positive trend toward using computers for administrative, professional development, research and assessment purposes has definitely emerged and their use is anticipated to rise. The ethical-legal concerns related to automated services that were voiced in the 1980's and substantiated in Jacob and Brantley (1987)'s study are also a reality in this country in the 1990's and are of serious professional concern. Professional guidelines specifically addressing these concerns are not yet readily available or are unknown to many Canadian practitioners.

Both theoretical and practical information regarding computer technology must be disseminated among the professional community if formal guidelines are to be of benefit (Pollock & Maenpaa, 1990). As of yet, however, professional training has not kept pace with technological advances and their implementation in the

work setting. Results from the present study indicate significant inadequacies in current training practices in the areas of basic computer literacy, operational procedures, critical software evaluation, information sources for review and guidance and associated ethical issues. An overwhelming number of respondents anticipated future use of many computer applications in their practice and expressed a desire for training in many general computer topics and specific applications. As Schmidt (1987) comments, it is unlikely that psychologists who behave unethically do so intentionally but rather out of ignorance. It is of vital importance, then, that these training needs be addressed for the positive potential of computer applications in the provision of services cannot be realized without full awareness of their advantages, limitations and possible abuses. As one respondent expressed:

"My responses to Ethical and Legal Issues (Part II) reflect a hope and [an] expectation that people will behave ethically. As someone once said, you plan for the worst scenario with the hope that it rarely happens."

To this end, training at the graduate school level through core curriculum courses and workshops, and at the post-graduate level through inservice and continuing education is not only warranted but imperative. Ongoing educational opportunities are essential to ensure school psychologists remain up to date with new technological developments, issues and quidelines.

Computer technology has great potential to revolutionize the provision of school psychological services. Only with the

institution of comprehensive training, safeguards, guidelines and procedures to avoid the problems and pitfalls of the technology can these applications realize their full potential.

REFERENCES

- American Psychological Association. (1977). <u>Standards for providers of psychological services</u>. Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychological Association. (1977). Ethical principles of psychologists. Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychological Association. (1981). Ethical principles of psychologists. American Psychologist, 36, 633-651.
- American Psychological Association. (1982). Ethical principle in the conduct of research with Juman participation. Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychological Association, American Educational Research Association, & National Council on Massumement in Education. (1985). Standards for educational and psychological to sing. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Brown, D. T. (1984). Automated assessment systems in school and clinical psychology: Present status and future directions. School Psychology Review, 13, 455-460.
- Burke, M. J., & Normand, J. (1987). Computerized psychological testing: Overview and critique. <u>Professional Psychology:</u>
 Research and Practice, 18, 42-51.
- Butcher, J. N. (Ed.) (1987a). <u>Computerized psychological</u> assessment: A practitioner's quide. New York: Basic Books.
- Butcher, J. N. (1987b). Preface. In J. N. Butcher (Zd.), <u>Computerized psychological assessment: A practition r's quide</u> (pp. xvii-xviii). New York: Basic Boch:
- Butcher, J. N. (1987c). The use of computers in psychological assessment: An overview of practices and issues. In J. N. Butcher (Ed.), <u>Computerized psychological assessment: A practitioner's quite</u> (pp. 3-14). New York: Basic Books.

- Butcher, J. N., Keller, L. S., & Bacon, S. F. (1985). Current developments and future directions in computerized personality assessment. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, 53, 803-315.
- Byers, A. P. (1981). Psychological evaluation by means of an on-line computer. <u>Behavior Research: Methods and Instruments</u>, 13, 585-587.
- Canadian Psychological Association (1988). <u>Code of Ethics for Psychologists</u>. Old Chelsea, Quebec: Author.
- Colorado Psychological Association. (1982). <u>Guidelines for use of computerized testing services</u>. (Available from: Colorado Psychological Corporation, 245 Columbine, Suite 209, Denver, CO 80206).
- Committee on Professional Standards and Committee on Psychological Tests and Assessment (1986). Guidelines for computer-based tests and interpretations. Washington, LC: American Psychological Association.
- Copeland, E. P., & Millor, L. F. (1985). Training needs of prospective school psychologists: The practitioner's viewpoint. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, <u>.3</u>, 247-254.
- Cronin L. J. (1985). <u>Microcomputer data security: Issues and strategies for businesses</u>. New York: Prentice Hall.
- Dillman, D. (1978). <u>Mail and telephone surveys</u>. New York: John Wiley.
- Duthie, B. (1984). A critical examination of computeradministered psychological tests. In M. D. Schwartz (Ed.), Using computers in clinical practice: Psychotherapy and mental health applications (pp. 135-139). New York: Howarth Press.
- Eberlein, L. (1990). Client resures: Ethical and legal considerations. Canadian Psychology, 31, 155-165.

- Erdman, H. P., Klein, H., & Greist, J. H. (1985). Direct patient computer interviewing. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, 53, 760-773.
- Erdman, H. P., Greist, J. H., Klein, M. H., Jefferson, J. W., & Getto, C. (1981). The computer psychiatrist: How far have we come? Where are we heading? How far dare we go? <u>Behavior Research Methods and Instrumentation</u>, 13, 393-398.
- Eyde, L. D. (1987). Computerised psychological testing: An introduction. <u>Applied Psychology: An International Review</u>, <u>36</u>, 223-235.
- Eyde, L. D., & Kowal, D. M. (1987). Computerised test interpretation services: Ethical and professional concerns regarding U. S. producers and users. <u>Applied Psychology: An International Review</u>, 36, 401-417.
- Farrell, A. D. (1984). When is a computerized system ready for distribution? In M. D. Schwartz (Ed.), <u>Using computers in clinical practice:</u> Psychotherapy and mental health applications (pp. 185-189). New York: Howarth Press.
- Fowler, R. D. (1985). Landmarks in computer-assisted psychological assessment. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, 53, 826-838.
- Fowler, R. D. (1987). Developing a computer-based test interpretive system. In J. N. Butcher (Ed.), <u>Computerized psychological assessment: A practitioner's quide</u> (pp. 50-63). New York: Basic Books.
- Fowler, R. D., & Butcher, J. N. (1986). Critique of Matarazzo's views on computerized testing: All sigma and no meaning.

 <u>American Psychologisc</u>, 41, 94-96.
- Fowler, R. D., & Butcher, J. N. (1987). International applications of computer-based testing and interpretation. Applied Psychology: An International Review, 36, 419-429.
- Genshaft, J. (1984). A reaction to "A national survey on students' and practitioners' perceptions of training." School Psychology Review, 13, 406-407.

- Harris, W. G. (1987). Computer-based test interpretations: Some development and application issues. <u>Applied Psychology:</u> <u>An International Review, 36, 237-247.</u>
- Hofer, P. J. (1985). Developing standards for computerized psychological testing. <u>Computers in Human Behavior</u>, 1, 310-315.
- Hofer, R. J., & Bersoff, D. N. (1983). <u>Standards for administration and interpretation of computerized psychological testing</u>. (Available from D. N. Bersoff, Suite 511, 1200 17th St. N. W., Washington, DC 20036).
- Hofer, R. J., & Green, B. F. (1985). The challenge of competence and creativity in computerized psychological testing. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, <u>53</u>, 826-838.
- Hunter, W. J. (1989). School-psychological applications of computer technology. <u>Canadian Journal of School Psychology</u>, <u>5</u>, 31-39.
- Jackson, D. N. (1985). Computer-based personality testing. Computers in Human Behavior, 1, 255-264.
- Jacob, S., & Brantley, J. C. (1986). Ethical and legal considerations for microcomputer use in special education. Computers in the Schools, 3, 185-194.
- Jacob, S., & Brantley, J. C. (1987). Ethical-legal problems with computer use and suggestions for best practices: A national survey. <u>School Psychology Review</u>, 16, 69-77.
- Jacob, S., & Brantley, J. C. (1989). Ethics and computer-assisted assessment: Three case studies. <u>Psychology in the Schools</u>, <u>26</u>, 163-167.
- Kenneth, C. E. (1988). Computerphobia. <u>School Counselor</u>, <u>35</u>, 297-298.

- Kerber, K. W. (1983). Attitudes towards specific uses of the computer: Quantitative, decision-making, and record-keeping applications. <u>behavior and Information Technology</u>, 2, 197-209.
- Kramer, J. J. (1988). Computer-Based Test Interpretation in psychoeducational assessment: An initial appraisal.

 <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, <u>26</u>, 143-153.
- Krug, S. E. (1987a). <u>Psychware Sourcebook 1987-88</u> (2nd ed.). Kansas City: Test Corporation of America.
- Krug, S. E. (1987b). Microtrends: An orientation to computerized assessments. In J. N. Butcher (Ed.), <u>Computerized psychological assessment: A practitioner's quide</u> (pp. 15-25). New York: Basic Books.
- Lanyon, R. I. (1984). Personality assessment. Annual Review
 of Psychology, 35, 667-701.
- Lawton, J., & Gerschner (1982). A review of the literature on attitudes towards computers and computerized instruction. Journal of Research and Development in Education, 16, 50-55.
- Lowe, D. W. (1987). Designing and implementing a computer literacy course in a graduate clinical counseling psychology program. <u>Teaching of Psychology</u>, <u>14</u>, 26-29.
- Masden, D. H. (1986). Computer-assisted testing and assessment in counseling: Computer applications for test administration and scoring. <u>Management and Evaluation in Counseling and Development</u>, 19, 6-14.
- Matarazzo, J. D. (1983). Computerized psychological testing. Science, 221, 323.
- Matarazzo, J. D. (1985). Clinical psychological test interpretations by computer: Hardware outpaces software. <u>Computers in Human Behavior</u>, 1, 235-253.
- Matarazzo, J. D. (1986). Computerized clinical psychological test interpretations: Unvalidated plus all mean and no sigma.

 American Psychologist, 41, 14-24.

- McCullough, C. S., & Wenck, L. S. (1984). Current microcomputer applications in school psychology. <u>School Psychology Review</u>, 13, 429-439.
- Meier, S. T., & Geiger, S. M. (1986). Implications of computerassisted testing and assessment for professional practice and training. <u>Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and</u> <u>Development</u>, 19, 29-34.
- Merrell, K. W. (1985). Computer use in psychometric assessment: Evaluating benefits and potential problems. Computers in Human Services, 1, 59-67.
- Moreland, K. L. (1985a). Computer-assisted psychological assessment in 1986: A practical guide. <u>Computers in Human Behavior</u>, 1, 221-233.
- Moreland, K. L. (1985b). Validation of computer-based test interpretations: Problems and prospects. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, <u>53</u>, 816-825.
- Moreland, K. L. (1987a). Computer-based test interpretations:

 Advice to the consumer. Applied Psychology: An International Review, 36, 385-399.
- Moreland, K. L. (1987b). Computerized psychological assessment: What's available. In J. N. Butcher (Ed.), Computerized psychological assessment: A practitioner's quide (pp. 26-49). New York: Basic Books.
- Morgan, D. W., & Crawford, J. L. (1974). Some issues in computer applications. In J. L. Crawford & D. W. Morgan (Eds.), <u>Mental</u> <u>health information systems: Computer applications</u> (pp. 339-349). Cambridge, Mass.: Ballinger.
- Most, R. (1987). Levels of error in computerised psychological inventories. <u>Applied Psychology: An International Review</u>, <u>36</u>, 375-383.

- National Association of School Psychologists. (1985). Principles of professional ethics. In A. Thomas & J. Grimes (Eds.), <u>Best practices in school psychology</u> (pp. 521-531). Kent, Ohio: Author.
- Newman, E. B. (1966). Proceedings of the American Psychological Association, Inc., for the year 1966. <u>American Psychologist</u>, 22, 1125-1153.
- Ohio Psychological Association (1983). <u>Principles for dealing</u> with ethics cases involving computerized assessment.

 Columbus: Author.
- Pollock, N. I., & Maempaa, M. (1990). How are psychologists using computers? <u>Canadian Psychologist</u>, <u>31</u>, 167-171.
- Reschly, D. J. (1984). A reaction to "A national survey on students' and practitioners' perceptions of training". School Psychology Review, 13, 405-406.
- Reynolds, R. V. C., McNamara, J. R., Marion, R. J., & Tobin, D. L. (1985). Computerized service delivery in clinical psychology. <u>Professional Psychology: Research and Practice</u>, 16, 339-353.
- Roid, G. H. (1985). Computer-based test interpretation: The potential of quantitative methods of test interpretation. Computers in Human Behavior, 1, 207-219.
- Roid, G. H., & Gorsuch, R. L. (1984). Development and clinical use of test-interpretive programs on microcomputers. In M. D. Schwartz (Ed.), <u>Using computers in clinical practice:</u>

 <u>Psychotherapy and mental health applications</u> (pp. 141-149). New York: Howarth Press.
- Romanczyk, R. G. (1986). <u>Clinical utilization of microcomputer</u> <u>technology</u>. New York: Pergammon Press.
- Ryabik, J. E., Olson, K. R., & Kleim, D. M. (1984). Ethical issues in computerized psychological assessment. <u>Professional Practice of Psychology</u>, 5, 31-39.

- Sampson, J. P. (1983). An integrated approach to computer applications in counseling psychology. <u>Counseling Psychologist</u>, <u>11</u>, 65-74.
- Sampson, J. P. (1986). Computer technology and counseling psychology: Regression toward that machine? <u>Counseling Psychologist</u>, 14, 567-583.
- Sampson, J. P., & Loesch, L. C. (1985). Computer preparation standards for counsellors and human development specialists. Journal of Counseling and Development, 64, 31-33.
- Sampson, J. P., & Pyle, K. R. (1983). Ethical issues involved with the use of computer-assisted counseling, testing and guidance systems. <u>Personnel and Guidance Journal</u>, 61, 238-287.
- Schmidt, L. (1987). Ethics and technical progress: Computers and testing and interpretation. <u>Psychotherapy in Private Practice</u>, 5, 91-94.
- Shneiderman, B. (1980). <u>Software psychology: Human factors in computer and information systems</u>. Cambridge, Mass.: Winthrop.
- Skinner, H. A., & Pakula, A. (1986). Challenge of computers in psychological assessment. <u>Professional Psychology: Research and Practice</u>, <u>17</u>, 44-50.
- Smith, D. K. (1984). Practicing school psychologists: Their characteristics, activities and populations served.

 <u>Professional Psychology: Research Practice</u>, 15, 798-810.
- Space, L. G. (1981). The computer as psychometrician. <u>Behavior</u> <u>Research Methods and Instruments</u>, <u>13</u>, 595-606.
- SPSS Inc. (1988). <u>The SPSS-X Users' Guide</u> (3rd Ed.). Illinois: Author.
- Thomas, A. (1984). Issues and concerns for microcomputer uses in school psychology. <u>School Psychology Review</u>, <u>13</u>, 469-472.

- Troutman, L. M. (1985). Computer technology in school psychology: A national survey of attitudes, applications and implications for use. Unpublished Thesis. University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill.
- Vale, C. D., & Keller, L. S. (1987). Developing expert computer systems to interpret psychological tests. In T. N. Butcher (Ed.), <u>Computerized psychological assessment: A practitioner's quide</u> (pp. 64-83). New York: Basic Books.
- Walker, N. W., & Myrick, C. C. (1985). Ethical considerations in the use of computers in psychological testing and assessment.

 <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 23, 51-57.
- Weiss, D. J. (1985). Adaptive testing by computer. <u>Journal of</u> Consulting and Clinical Psychology, <u>53</u>, 774-789.
- Wolkon, G. H., & Lyon, M. (1986). Ethical issues in computerized mental health data systems. <u>Hospital and Community Psychiatry</u>, 37, 11-12, 16.
- Zachary, R. A., & Pope, K. S. (1984). Legal and ethical issues in the clinical use of computerized testing. In M. D. Schwartz (Ed.), <u>Using computers in clinical practice: Psychotherapy and mental health applications</u> (pp. 151-164). New York: Howarth Press.

Legal Documents

- Copyright Act, Revised Statutes, c. C-30, (Supp) 1988, s.i. 5(1)(i),(m).
- Copyrights, 17 United States Code Service, Section 117, 1980.

APPENDIX A

SURVEY OF COMPUTE	R USE, TRAINING, AND	ETHICAL CONCERNS AM	ONG SCHOOL PSYCHOLOGISTS*
1. The province you live in: _		You are: 3. Female Male	Your age is:under 30 30-39 40-49
School p Psycholo Private Administ Universi	tly working as a: all that apply) sychologist/psychoedu gist in other setting Practitioner rator/Pupil Personnel ty Instructor lease specify)	(specify)	50+ 5. Level of training in in psychology:
6. Work setting:	UrbanRural		
psychologis	working as a school t, please indicate of experience:	inas	are currently working school system, for how many its are you responsible?
1-5 6-10 11-15 16-20 21+			mss than 500 10-1,000 001-1,499 500-2,000 001+
8. Are you a memb	er of the Canadian As	sociation of School	. Psychologists?YesNo
			; both at the office and home use rable are (leave blank if none):
Ourrent Anticip		CHECK ALL THAT AF	PLY
		Administering que Test scoring &/or Test interpretati	
	· —	Psychological rep	
			counseling/therapy (including interviews)
		Statistical analy	wis
		Data storage/reco	_
	· <u>–</u>	Word processing	-
	: <u>=</u>	Office/service ac	countability
	<u> </u>	Writing programs	
			ion services (eg. ERIC, PSYCLIT)
			ication networks (eg. electronic mail, bulletin boards)
		Other (specify) _	
10a) Do you have to computers	? accom	, would you use puter if you did access to one? Yes	10c) If yes, how much do you use computers? CHECK ALL THAT APPLY None at present
No		No	Once a week or less Several times weekly Daily

*Survey based on a quasticonnaire developed by S. Jacob, Central Michigan University and J. Brantley, University of North Carolina. Cited in <u>School Psychology Review</u>, <u>16</u>, 69-77.

11. The compu	iter(s) you us	e belong(s) to:		
	ining you rece ers came throu		At which point in development did yo	your professional ou receive this training?
Universit Workshope Inservice Personal	e training	courses	CHECK ALL THAT APPI As part of a d Post degree/di	legree/diploma
12c) Please i		ich areas you have	and/or would like	to receive specific
Common operat Critical eval (eg. accura Limitations o	rience with t tional procedu tuation of sof tcy, validity, of software tources (revie	he technology res of software pa tware products utility) ws, guidelines)		Desire training
		PART II RIBIO	l and legal issues	
Consider the school psycho		ical/legal problem	s raised by various	computer applications in
low if this problem has already cocurred in	column be- low if you feel there is a strong likelihood	Rate the level of your concern about professions risks involved in these computer applications: blank = no opi 0 = not a 1 = scmeen 2 = very c	nion concern at concerned	
		non ind	essential and out-	ta increases the amount of dated information kept on d the risk of invasion of
		cop a c	ies of records to a	to maintain adequate backur seure that information about the event of equipment

Computerized record-keeping increases the rimanthorized access to psychological records violations of confidentiality of children's records. Psychologists may use computerized records for research purposes without obtaining info consent. Psychologists may use test scoring and intensition software without critically evaluating claims for accuracy, reliability, and valid resulting in potential disservice to children experiments of computer anxiet lack of computer-test taking skills or equipmalfunction. Computerized test interpretation programs as missued by unsophisticated users (e.g. programfalls outside limits of user's computernee), resulting in potential disservice to children computer-generated psychological reports as misused by schools or unqualified persons resulting in potential disservice to children computer-generated psychological reports as misused by schools or unqualified persons resulting in potential disservice to children computer-generated psychological reports as misused by schools or unqualified persons resulting in potential disservice to children computer-generated psychological reports as misused by schools or unqualified persons resulting in potential disservice to children computer-generated psychologists may computerize existing tests without establishing new norms and psychometric information. Psychologists may computerize existing tests without tests producers' computerize existing tests without tests producers' computerize existing tests without tests which are unrecossary for decision and due to the availability and ease of administration of computerized tests.	
for research purposes without obtaining inforcement. Psychologists may use test scoring and interation software without critically evaluation claims for accuracy, reliability, and validing in potential disservice to childred psychologists may fail to insure that test mare not adversely affected by computer anxietals of computer-test taking skills or equipmalfunction. Computerized test interpretation programs maisused by unsophisticated users (eg. prografuls outside limits of user's competence), resulting in potential disservice to childred computer-generated psychological reports may misused by schools or unqualified persons resulting in potential disservice to childred psychologists may computerize existing tests without establishing new norms and psychologists without establishing new norms and psychometric information. Psychologists may computerize existing tests without test producers' permission, thereby infringing on producers' copyright. Psychologists may indiscriminantly administrates which are unmonessary for decision and due to the availability and ease of administration of computerized tests.	s and
ation software without critically evaluating claims for accuracy, reliability, and valid resulting in potential disservice to childred Psychologists may fail to insure that test are not adversely affected by computer anxietlack of computer-test taking skills or equipmalfunction. Computerized test interpretation programs may missed by unsophisticated users (eg. prografalls cutside limits of user's computence), resulting in potential disservice to childred Computer-generated psychological reports may missed by schools or unqualified persons resulting in potential disservice to childred Psychologists may computerize existing tests without establishing new norms and psychometric information. Psychologists may computerize existing tests without test producers' permission, thereby infringing on producers' copyright. Psychologists may indiscriminantly administrates which are unmossary for decision may due to the availability and ease of administ of computerized tests.	ormed
are not adversely affected by computer anxie lack of computer-test taking skills or equipmalfunction. Computerized test interpretation programs as missed by unsophisticated users (eg. prografalls outside limits of user's computence), resulting in potential disservice to children computer-generated psychological reports as missed by schools or unqualified persons resulting in potential disservice to children Psychologists may computerize existing tests without establishing new norms and psychometrin information. Psychologists may computerize existing tests without test producers' permission, thereby infringing on producers' copyright. Psychologists may indiscriminantly administrates which are unmonessary for decision and due to the availability and ease of administration computerized tests.	g ity,
misused by unsophisticated users (eg. prografalls outside limits of user's competence), resulting in potential disservice to childrent computer-generated psychological reports may misused by schools or unqualified persons resulting in potential disservice to childrent computerize existing tests without establishing new norms and psychometric information. Psychologists may computerize existing tests without test producers' permission, thereby infringing on producers' copyright. Psychologists may indiscriminantly administrates which are unnecessary for decision may due to the availability and ease of administ of computerized tests.	ety,
misused by schools or unqualified persons resulting in potential disservice to childred persons in potential disservice to childred the stablishing new norms and psychometric information. Psychologists may computerize excisting tests without test producers' permission, thereby infringing on producers' copyright. Psychologists may indiscriminantly administrates which are unnecessary for decision may due to the availability and ease of administration of computerized tests.	am.
without establishing new norms and psychomes information. Psychologists may computerize existing tests without test producers' permission, thereby infringing on producers' copyright. Psychologists may indiscriminantly administrates which are unnecessary for decision maddue to the availability and ease of administration of computerized tests.	•
without test producers' permission, thereby infringing on producers' copyright. Psychologists may indiscriminantly administrates which are unnecessary for decision made to the availability and ease of administration of computerized tests.	
tasts which are unnecessary for decision made due to the availability and ease of administ of computerized tasts.	
	king,
Unethical and illegal copying of software in violation of copyright laws.	n
ADD BELOW ANY OTHER PROBLEMS WITH THE USE OF COMPUTERS IN YOUR SERVICE AREA WHICH HAVE BEEN MENTIONED.	/E NOT
IF YOU KNOW OF EINICAL/LEGAL COMPUTER PROBLEMS THAT HAVE BEEN SUCCESSFULLY RESOLVED, STATE THE PROBLEM(S) AND TELL HOW THEY WERE RESOLVED:	PLEASE

Which of the following documents have you consulted for guidance in computer use?	Don't have access to a copy.	Have access but have not corpulted it.	Have access and h 12 consulted it.
Quidelines for Computer-Based Tests and Interpretations (American Psychological Association, 1986)			
Canadian Code of thics for Psychologists (Canadian Psychological Association, 1980)		-	
<u>Pthical Principles of Psychologists</u> (American Psychological Association, 1977, 1981)			
Standards for Educational and Psychological Tests (American Psychological Association, American Educational Research Association & National Council on Measurement in Education, 1985)			
Standards for the Providers of Psychological Services (APA, 1977)			
Principles of Professional Ethics (National Association of School Psychologists, 1985)			
If any of these documents have helped or gu	ided you in comp	ruter use, please	e explain how:

PLEASE RETURN THIS SURVEY 10: Nr. Kent Henderson/Julie L'Houreux Descriment of Applied Psychology Ontario Institute for Studies in Education

252 Bloor Street West Toronto, Ontario

M5S 1V6

If you have any questions concerning this questionnaire, please feel free to contact us at (416) 923-6642 ext.2577.

APPENDIX B

Item and Wording Changes to Jacob and Brancley (1987) Questionnaire

Question 1*: "Province" inserted for "state"

Question 4: Addition: "(please check all that apply)"

Addition: /psychoeducational consultant

Ouestion 5: New item added

Question 6: New item added

Ouestion 8: New item added

Question 9: Addition: "(including interviews)" beside computer

assisted counseling/therapy

Addition: "Record keeping" byside Data storage

Addition "Database information services (eg. ERIC,

PSYCHLIT)"

Addition: "Electronic communication networks (eq.

electronic mail, bulletin boards)"

Question 10a: New question added

Question 10b: New question added

Question 12b: New question added

Question 12c: New question added

Part II Ethical and Legal Issues:

Word changes: "children" inserted for "pupil"

"(eq. program fails outside limits of user's

competence)" inserted after words

"unschisticated user"

Item additions: Psychologists may fail to maintain adequate

backup copies of records to assure that information about a child is not lost in the

event of equipment malfunction.

Psychologists may full to insure that test results are not adversely affected by computer anxiety, lack of computer-test taking skills or

equipment malfunction.

^{*}Question numbers refer to current questionnaire

Psychologists may computerize existing tests without establishing new norms and psychometric information.

Psychologists may computerize existing tests without test producers' permission, there by infringing on producers' copyright.

Psychologists may indiscriminantly administer tests for decision making, due to the availability and ease of administration of computerized tests.

Item additions under Documents section:

Quidelines for computer-based tests and interpretations (APA, 1986)

Canadian code of ethics for psychologists (CPA, 1988) Standards for the providers of psychological services (AFA, 1977)

APPENDIX C

Letters to Participants

July 17, 1990

Member's name Member's address

Dear Member's name:

Rapid advances in technology have led to the development of a number of computer applications which may impact significantly on the field of school psychology. To what extent do school psychologists use computer applications? Have any associated ethical-legal problems occurred or are any anticipated to occur in the future? How useful are existing professional guidelines and standards regarding computer use? Is training desired by professionals? These are the questions we are asking Canadian school psychologists in order to assess current professional needs and concerns regarding computer applications.

Your name was selected from the membership directory of the Canadian Association of School Psychologists. Because only a small sample is being surveyed, it is very important that each questionnaire be completed and returned. Participation in this study is completely voluntary and will require about 5 minutes of your time. If you would like to participate, please complete the enclosed questionnaire, and return it in the pre-addressed stamped envelope provided. We would appreciate receiving your responses by August 17, 1990 but will welcome, most certainly, any returns after this date.

You may receive a summary of results by writing "copy of results requested" on the back of the return envelope, and printing your name and address below it. Please do not sign the questionnaire in order to ensure anonymity.

Your responses and comments on this survey are very important for assessing current professional concerns and needs regarding computer applications. We would be most happy to answer any questions you might have concerning this study and can be reached in the Department of Applied Psychology at (416) 923-6641, ext. 257.

Thank you for your valuable ______stance with this project. Sincerely,

Kent Henderson, Ph.D. Chairperson, School Psychology Program Julie L'Heureux, 7.A.

Graduate Student

School Psychology Program

Member's name Member's address

Dear <u>Member's name</u>:

Two weeks ago, a survey concerning the use of computer applications in school psychology was mailed to you. Your name was drawn from the membership directory of the Canadian Association of School Psychologists.

If you have already completed and returned the survey to us, please accept our sincere thanks. If you have not, and you would like to participate, please do so today. Because the survey has been sent to a small sample of school psychologists, it is very important that your responses be included in the study.

If by some chance you did not receive the questionnaire or it has been misplaced, please contact us and we will get another one in the mail to you as soon as possible. You may call Dr. Kent Henderson or Seeta Parker in the Department of Applied Psychology at (416) 923-6641, ext. 2731 or if you prefer, you may call Julie L'Heureux collect at (416) 614-1976, after August 8th.

Thank you again for your valuable assistance with this project.

Sincerely,

Kent Henderson, Ph.D. Chairperson, School Psychology Program

Julie L'Heureux, B.A.
Graduate Student
School Psychology Program

APPENDIX D Tables

Table 1

Distribution and Response Rate of Sample

Province	Number Sent	% of CASP Members	Number Returned	% Return	Number of Usable Question- naires	% of Sample
British Columbia	47	21	27	54	26	18
Alberta	34	15	27	79	25	17
Saskat- chewan	13	6	8	62	7	5
Manitoba	28	13	17	60	16	11
Ontario	80	26	70	88	64	44
Quebec	6	2	2	33	2	1
New Brunswick	5	2	4	80	3	2
Nova Scotia	7	3	2	29	2	1
Newfound- land	2	1	0	0	0	O
Prince Edward Island	1	.5	1	100	1	1
Northwest Territorie	s 1	.5	0	0	•	0

Table 2
Characteristics of Respondents

Variable	Total	
	n	&
Gender:		
Male	84	57
Female	62	43
Age (years):		
<30	5	3
30–39	40	27
40-49	68	47
50+	33	23
Occupation:		
School psychologist/		
Psychoeducational consultant	123	84
Psychologist - other	7	5
Private practitioner	21	14
Administrator	27	19
Employment location:		
Urban	99	68
Rural	34	24
Both	12	8
ædi	12	0
Highest level of psychology training:		
Ph.D.	50	34
M.A.	90	62
B.A. or other	5	4
Years of experience as school consultant/		
psychologist:		
1-5	29	20
6-10	26	18
11–15	23	16
16-20	23	16
21+	25	17
Not applicable or Missing	20	13
Caseload:		
< 500	9	6
500-1,000	7	5
1,001-1,499	14	10
1,500-2,000	22	15
2,001+	70	48
Not applicable or Missing	24	16
	67	20

Table 3

Frequency of Computer Use and Ownership and Training Source and Time of Training in Percentages

Frequency of Use		
None at present	14	
Once a week or less	17	
Several times weekly	38	
Daily	23	
Missing Data	8	
_		
Ownership of Computer		
Self	53	
School/Employer	66	
Colleague/Friend	4	
University/Colleges	12	
Training Source	-	
University or college courses	29	
Workshops	23	
Inservice	36	
Personal study	66	
Other	7	
Time of Training		
As part of degree/diploma	30	
Post degree/diploma	53	

Table 4

Current and Anticipated Use and Desire for Training in Computer Applications in Percentages

Current Use	Anticipated Use	Desire Training
8	20	14
28	25	21
21	_ 18	20
36	21	16
o	7	11
47	19	19
61	16	14
22	10	5
34	14	20
12	6	17
22	19	22
25	14	18
2	0	1
	8 28 21 36 0 47 61 22 34 12 22 25	Use Use 8 20 28 25 21 18 36 21 0 7 47 19 61 16 22 10 34 14 12 6 22 19 25 14

Table 5

Percentage of Respondents Having and Desiring Training in Computer Skills

Area of Training	Have Training	Desire Training
Basic computer literacy	64	23
Hands on experience with the technology	47	38
Common operational procedures of software packages	43	37
Critical evaluation of software products (eg. accuracy, validity, utility)	10	56
Limitations of software	10	47
Information sources (reviews, guidelines)	10	50
Related ethical issues	11	47

Table 6

Percentage of Respondents Reporting Past and Potential
Ethical-Legal Problems and Concern

Ethical-legal problem	Has Occurred	Potential Problem	Somewhat. or Very Concerned
1. Computer storage of data increases the amount of non-essential and out-dated information kept on individual children and the risk of invasion of privacy.	7	42	69
2. Psychologists may fail to maintain adequate backup of copies of records to assure that information about a child is not lost in the event of equipment failure.	5	36	62
3. Computerized record-keeping increases the risk of unauthorized access to psychological records and violations of confidentiality of children's records.	i 3	47	77
4. Psychologists may use computer- ized records for research purposes without informed consent.	3	38	61
5. Psychologists may use test scoring and interpretation software without critically evaluating claim for accuracy, reliability, and validity, resulting in potential disservice to children.		43	83
6. Psychologists may fail to insure that test results are not adversely affected by computer anxiety, lack of computer-test taking skills or equipment malfunction.	2	42	67
mattunecton.	2	43	67

Table 6 (continued)

<u>Percentage of Respondents Reporting Past and Potential</u> <u>Ethical-Legal Problems and Concern</u>

Ethical-legal problem	Has Occurred	Potential Problem	Somewhat or Very Concerned
7. Computerized test interpretation programs may be misused by unsophisticated users (eg. program falls outside limits of user's competence), resulting in potential disservice to children.	n	46	86
8. Computer-generated psychological reports may be misused by schools or unqualified persons resulting a potential disservice to children.	al	41	81
9. Psychologists may computerize existing tests without establishing new norms and psychometric information.		38	64
10. Psychologists may computerized existing tests without test producers' permission, thereby infringing on producers' copyright		33	46
11. Psychologists may indiscriminantly administer tests which are unnecessary for decision making, due to the availability and ease administration of computerized tests.		36	61
12. Unethical and illegal copying of sof ware in violation of copyright laws.	g i4	41	60

Table 7

Accessibility and Consultation of Professional Documents in Percentages

		<u></u>		
Document	No Access	Access but not Consulted	Access and Consulted	Question Unanswered
Guidelines for computer-based tests and interpretations (COPS & CPTA, 1986)	E1.	9	15	25
Canadian code of ethics for psychologists (CPA, 1988)	10	25	52	12
Ethical principles of psychologists (APA, 1977; 1981)	19	22	40	19
Standards for educational and psychological tests (APA, Alexa, & NOME, 1985)	25	21	33	21
Standards for the providers of psychological services (APA, 1977)	28	24	29	19
"Principles of professional ethics" (NASP, 1985)	29	23	32	17

221091